File Ref: SF&C/1/2/11/6/1C(2017)Pt.3

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL BRIEF

SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE (CAP. 571)

SECURITIES AND FUTURES (FINANCIAL RESOURCES) (AMENDMENT) RULES 2018

INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to section 145 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) ("SFO"), the Securities and Futures Commission ("SFC"), after consultation with the Financial Secretary, made the **Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018** ("the Amendment Rules") at <u>Annex</u> on 11 October 2018. The main purpose of the Amendment Rules is to update the computation basis of the financial resources requirements of corporations licensed by the SFC (licensed corporations, "LCs") to ensure that they are compatible with the latest market development and to streamline some of the arrangements to facilitate the business operation of the LCs.

JUSTIFICATIONS

The Financial Resources Requirement

2. The Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRR") (Cap. 571N) apply to all LCs which conduct one or more types of regulated activities under the SFO. The FRR prescribe financial resources requirements as one of the measures to address the risks arising from the carrying on of regulated activities and to ensure that LCs have sufficient liquid assets to meet ongoing liabilities as they fall due. The FRR impose on LCs, among other requirements, a risk-based liquid

capital requirement¹ which varies with the size and complexity of the LC's business. These are important for managing the risk exposure of the LCs to ensure that they are financially robust.

3. The SFC considers it appropriate to update the FRR to align with market development and streamline some of the existing requirements to facilitate the business operation of LCs. Details of the amendments to the FRR are set out in paragraphs 4 to 24 below.

Major Updates

- (1) Treatment for foreign currencies
- (a) Treatment for any currency subject to exchange control or any assets of which the proceeds, upon realization, are subject to remittance control
- 4. Section 18(2) of the FRR forbids LCs to include any currency that is subject to exchange control and any assets of which the proceeds, upon realization, are subject to remittance control, in their liquid assets, unless the LC reasonably believes that approval for the remittance of such currency or proceeds to Hong Kong can be obtained from the relevant authority within one week of application. In order to facilitate cross-boundary and cross-border business, the Amendment Rules relax this requirement by allowing any such assets to be treated as liquid assets, if such assets can be freely applied to meet an existing liability or obligation of the LC, which is settled in the same currency, without the need to seek

Liquid capital is the amount by which an LC's liquid assets exceed its ranking liabilities (liquid capital = liquid assets – ranking liabilities). Liquid assets are the amount of assets that is required to be included in the calculation of liquid capital; and ranking liabilities are the sum of the liabilities on its balance sheet and adjustments to cater for factors such as market risks and contingency.

The applicable minimum amount of liquid capital that an LC is required to maintain, known as its "required liquid capital", is computed with reference to a base amount and a variable parameter that takes into account its assets and liabilities. In other words, the required liquid capital varies with the size and complexity of the business undertaking of the LC. For example, the base amount of required liquid capital for an LC licensed for Type 1 regulated activity which is not an approved introducing agent or trader is HK\$3 million. If that LC has higher level of liabilities, its required liquid capital may be higher than that base amount in order to reflect the size and complexity of the business undertaking of the LC.

an approval from the relevant authority. The assets concerned will still be subject to the applicable haircut ² normally required under other provisions of the FRR.

- (b) Treatment for opposite onshore and offshore positions in a non-freely floating foreign currency³
- 5. For any non-freely floating foreign currency, there may be deviations between the onshore and offshore exchange rates. The Amendment Rules stipulate the treatment for opposite onshore and offshore positions in such currency. Essentially, for any matched positions, a newly-introduced capital charge in the form of ranking liabilities at 1.5% is applied on one side of the positions to cover execution and basis risks stemming from the difference in the onshore and offshore markets. The unmatched positions continue to be subject to a 5% capital charge in the form of ranking liabilities under section 52(1)(d) of the existing FRR.

(2) <u>Updating the list of specified exchanges</u>

- 6. Schedule 3 to the FRR provides a list of specified exchanges with reference to which the FRR prescribe more favourable treatments for assets and liabilities arising from, or related to, dealings in products traded on those exchanges. For example, amounts receivable from and cash deposited with the clearing houses or clearing participants of the clearing houses of the exchanges listed in Schedule 3 can be admitted as LCs' liquid assets, and shares listed on those exchanges are subject to a lower haircut percentage.
- 7. Having regard to the latest market development and the feedback from the industry, the Amendment Rules add five Mainland futures

"Haircut" is a certain percentage of the market value of securities or other investments to be deducted from the market value as a risk adjustment to cater for market risks of house positions or collateral for the purposes of liquid capital computation. The haircut percentages for different types of securities and

investments are set out in Schedule 2 to the FRR.

[&]quot;A non-freely floating currency" means a foreign currency in respect of which an authority of the jurisdiction of which the currency is the lawful currency specifies, in respect of one or more foreign exchange markets specified by the authority: (a) the rate at which the currency is permitted by the authority to be converted into one or more other currencies; or (b) a range of rates within which the currency is permitted by the authority to be converted into one or more other currencies.

exchanges (China Financial Futures Exchange; Dalian Commodity Exchange; Shanghai Futures Exchange; Shanghai International Energy Exchange Co., LTD; and Zhengzhou Commodity Exchange) and three other futures exchanges (The Taiwan Futures Exchange Corporation; Thailand Futures Exchange Public Company Limited; and Tokyo Commodity Exchange, Inc.) to the list of specified exchanges in Schedule 3 in order to facilitate LCs' participation in these futures markets. Amounts receivable from and cash deposited with the clearing houses of these exchanges or clearing participants of such clearing houses can be admitted as LCs' liquid assets.

- 8. The Amendment Rules also add two Mainland stock exchanges (Shanghai Stock Exchange; and Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and four other stock exchanges (B3 S.A. Brasil, Bolsa, Balcão (the stock exchange in Brazil); National Stock Exchange of India Limited; BSE Limited (a stock exchange in India); and Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation) to the list of specified exchanges in Schedule 3. The haircut percentage for shares listed on these exchanges is lowered from 50% to 30% to align with the haircut percentages for shares listed on other emerging markets.
- (3) <u>Introducing/updating haircut percentages for certain securities/investments</u>
- 9. The Amendment Rules introduce/update haircut percentages for certain securities and investments in order to better reflect their market risks. The haircut percentages for such securities and investments are determined after reviewing their market volatility and liquidity and benchmarking them with securities or investments with similar risk profile.
- (a) Updating haircut percentage for constituent stocks of Euro Stoxx 50 Index
- 10. The Amendment Rules lower the haircut percentage for constituent stocks of Euro Stoxx 50 Index from 20% to 15% in order to align with the haircut percentages for constituent stocks of other major indices (such as the S&P 500 Index and the FTSE 100 Index).
- (b) New haircut percentage for constituents of Hang Seng Composite LargeCap Index

- 11. Considering the volatility, turnover and market capitalization of constituents of Hang Seng Composite LargeCap Index that are not constituents of Hang Seng Index, the Amendment Rules lower the haircut percentage assigned to such constituents from 30% to 20%.
- (c) New approach for determining the haircut percentage for equity or debt securities basket or index
- 12. Currently, the FRR are silent on how the haircut percentage for a position in a basket of equities or debt securities, or an index representing a basket of equities or debt securities, is to be determined. LCs may need to consult the SFC in order to assign a suitable haircut percentage for such investments. In order to minimize LCs' computational burden and to ensure the risk factors are prudently reflected, the Amendment Rules stipulate that the highest applicable haircut percentages for the constituents of the basket or index should be taken as the haircut percentage for the position. Furthermore, LCs may seek the SFC's approval to use a weighted average approach to calculate the basket or index haircut percentage.
- (d) Updating haircut percentages and treatments for certain types of investment funds
- 13. In light of the increased popularity of certain new types of funds in recent years, the SFC seeks to rationalize the haircut percentages for funds of different risk profiles by introducing haircut percentages for the following types of SFC-authorized investment funds and recognized jurisdiction funds⁴ based on their risks through the Amendment Rules
 - (i) money market and cash management funds: 5%, in light of their low volatility and liquid nature;
 - (ii) <u>real estate investment trusts</u>: 30%, in light of their nature being similar to listed stocks;
 - (iii) structured funds and funds that invest in financial derivative instruments: 40%, as these investments may involve higher risk or use of leverage or derivatives; and

_

[&]quot;Recognized jurisdiction fund" means a unit trust or mutual fund that (a) is regulated in a jurisdiction outside Hong Kong, regardless of whether it is also a SFC-authorized fund; and (b) falls within all of the criteria published on the SFC's website for the purposes of provisions of the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds relating to recognition of certain overseas collective investment schemes.

- (iv) <u>index funds (including exchange traded funds (ETFs)) that track</u> an equity or debt securities index: same as the haircut percentage for the index⁵.
- 14. The Amendment Rules also stipulate that when more than one haircut percentage applies to a fund, the highest of those haircut percentages shall prevail.
- 15. Currently, funds which are SFC-authorized investment funds or recognized jurisdiction funds can be treated as liquid assets for the purposes of the FRR. To reflect the inherent nature of illiquid funds such that they are distinguished from other liquid assets for the purposes of the FRR, the Amendment Rules stipulate that funds which are not redeemable within 30 days are excluded from LCs' liquid assets. Since listed funds may have good market liquidity, the Amendment Rules admit ETFs which are traded on a specified exchange as liquid assets, subject to similar haircut percentages as SFC-authorized investment funds.
- (e) Specifying haircut percentages for illiquid investments and miscellaneous investments
- 16. Currently, haircut percentages are prescribed only for a finite set of investments, i.e. those investments specified in Schedule 2 to the FRR. Other investments (miscellaneous investments) and certain illiquid investments as specified in the FRR are not qualified as liquid assets because of their illiquidity or the difficulty in measuring their risk. In order to clarify the above policy intent, the Amendment Rules stipulate explicitly that the haircut percentage for illiquid investments and miscellaneous investments is 100%.
- (f) New treatment for financial instruments with leverage
- 17. In order to ensure that the risk associated with financial products with embedded leverage are properly recognised, the Amendment Rules require the haircut percentage for a product to be scaled up according to the leverage embedded in the product, subject to a cap of 100% of the market value of the product if the maximum possible loss on the position is capped at its market value.

Equals the highest of the applicable haircut percentages for the constituents of the index or the weighted average percentage applicable to the constituents subject to the SFC's approval.

- (4) <u>Refining treatments for amounts receivable in respect of dealings in</u> securities
- (a) Amounts receivable arising from third party clearing
- 18. The Amendment Rules allow an LC to include as liquid assets non-past due receivables arising from third party clearing of securities transactions with the Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited ("HKSCC"), in order to facilitate the use and provision of third party clearing services by LCs.
- 19. The Amendment Rules also stipulate that the amounts receivable from a General Clearing Participant ("GCP") of the HKSCC may be set off against amounts payable to the GCP in exceptional situations where the settlement risk is considered to be low, subject to the SFC's approval.
- 20. In addition, in order to facilitate LCs' dealings under Stock Connect, the Amendment Rules allow LCs to include as liquid assets any amount receivable from a China Connect Clearing Participant who is also a GCP of the HKSCC in respect of Mainland Settlement Deposit⁶ or Mainland Security Deposit⁷ paid.
- (b) New treatment for client prepayments for securities transactions
- 21. Under the existing FRR, any prepayment received from a client to settle a purchase of or subscription for a stock is not allowed to be included in the LC's liquid assets, but the corresponding amount payable to the clearing house or issuer is required to be included in the LC's ranking liabilities. Since client prepayments for securities transactions can reduce the settlement risk of the LCs, the Amendment Rules allow LCs to include client prepayments in their liquid assets.
- (c) Relaxing the treatment for underwriting fees receivable
- 22. An LC which acts as a securities underwriter may only be required to pay the sub-underwriting fees to the sub-underwriters after the receipt

Mainland Settlement Deposit is collected by the HKSCC from China Connect Clearing Participants to mitigate the credit risk arising from China Connect Clearing Participants' potential failure to meet their money obligations.

Mainland Security Deposit is collected by the HKSCC from China Connect Clearing Participants to mitigate the market risk arising from potential unfavourable fluctuations of prices in respect of the unsettled stock positions.

of the underwriting fee from its client. In order to reduce the capital burden of LCs under such circumstance, the Amendment Rules allow LCs to include any underwriting fee accrual or receivable which remains outstanding beyond the normal time limit prescribed in the FRR in their liquid assets, up to the amount of the corresponding sub-underwriting fee liability to sub-underwriters, if the settlement of the latter is contingent upon the collection of underwriting fees by the LCs.

(5) New treatment for liabilities arising from tenancy agreements for business premises

23. Under a new accounting standard coming into effect on 1 January 2019, a tenant may be required to recognize its rights and obligations under certain tenancy agreements as on-balance sheet assets and liabilities. We note that such on-balance sheet assets relating to tenancy agreements are non-liquid assets while such liabilities are counted towards ranking liabilities under the FRR. In order to alleviate the additional burden arising from the implementation of the new accounting standard to an LC, the Amendment Rules allow an LC to exclude from its ranking liabilities the amount of liability arising from a tenancy agreement entered into by it in respect of any premises used for carrying on regulated activity, up to the amount of assets arising from the same tenancy agreement under this accounting standard, which is not included in its liquid assets. The Amendment Rules also exclude the same amount from the LC's variable required liquid capital calculation.

(6) Other technical changes

- 24. There are technical changes under the Amendment Rules to improve clarity, to align with current accounting and market practices and to better reflect the underlying policies. The key technical changes include the following
 - (i) allowing an LC to exclude from its ranking liabilities amounts payable to clients in respect of client money held by it in a segregated account maintained with a person approved by the SFC;
 - (ii) recognizing credit ratings issued by Fitch Ratings;
 - (iii) rationalizing certain definitions to better reflect policy intent and current market practices, for example, to exclude highly complex or risky products from the definitions of "qualifying debt securities" and "special debt securities"; and

(iv) making other textual and presentational changes to the FRR.

THE AMENDMEMT RULES

- 25. The main object of the Amendment Rules is to amend the FRR in order to update the computation basis of financial resources requirements of LCs. The main provisions of the Amendment Rules are as follows:
 - (i) <u>section 3</u> updates section 2 of the FRR to amend, repeal, substitute and add various definitions used in the FRR;
 - (ii) section 4 adds new sections 2A, 2B, 2C, 2D, 2E, 2F and 2G to the FRR. New sections 2A, 2B, 2C, 2D, 2E and 2F respectively set out the meaning of "gross foreign currency position", "haircut amount", "haircut percentage", "listed", "miscellaneous investment" and "structured note". New section 2G provides for the interpretation of references to "exchange" and "clearing house";
 - (iii) <u>section 5</u> amends section 3(1)(b) of the FRR to repeal the reference to the manner in which an LC is to account for structured bonds;
 - (iv) sections 6, 10, 13, 20, 24, 27, 31 and 33 respectively amend sections 6, 12, 19, 31, 40, 51, 55 and 58 of the FRR to make consequential amendments to refer to "unlisted options contracts";
 - (v) <u>sections 7 to 9</u> amend Division 2 of Part 4 of the FRR to amend various matters concerning the computation basis for an LC's liquid capital and required liquid capital
 - (i) <u>section 7</u> imposes requirements to account for illiquid and miscellaneous investments on a trade date basis:
 - (ii) section 8 expands the list of instruments or assets to which section 9 of the FRR applies and clarifies how references to "market value" in the FRR are to be construed; and
 - (iii) section 9 provides for the setting-off of certain amounts arising from cleared transactions in securities;
 - (vi) <u>sections 11 to 21</u> amend Division 3 of Part 4 of the FRR to amend various requirements relating to an LC's liquid assets
 - (i) <u>section 12</u> adds new section 18A to the FRR to provide for the treatment of assets in respect of which remittance or exchange controls apply, and section 11 makes

- consequential amendments to section 18 of the FRR so that it does not apply to such assets;
- (ii) section 14 provides for the treatment of certain money held by an LC for the purposes of settling purchases of, or subscriptions for, securities;
- (iii) section 15 clarifies the treatment of certain amounts receivable from clients in respect of purchases of, or subscriptions for, securities which are not yet due for settlement;
- (iv) section 16 clarifies that the period of listing relates to a particular exchange in section 22(4)(c) and (5) of the FRR and updates the names of certain indexes in section 22(4)(d) of the FRR;
- (v) <u>section 17</u> provides for the treatment of certain amounts receivable which are not yet due for settlement or which arise from cleared transactions in securities;
- (vi) section 18 provides for the treatment of certain amounts receivable by an LC from certain clearing houses arising from transactions cleared by the LC with the clearing houses;
- (vii) section 19 provides for the treatment of certain amounts receivable by an LC from futures or options clearing house participants arising from transactions cleared by them for the LC, and makes consequential amendments to refer to unlisted options contracts; and
- (viii) section 21 provides for the treatment of certain underwriting fees receivable by an LC;
- (vii) sections 22 to 30 amend Division 4 of Part 4 of the FRR to amend various requirements relating to an LC's ranking liabilities—
 - (i) section 22 adds new section 36A to the FRR to provide for the treatment of certain controlled assets which an LC elects to include in its liquid assets under new section 18A(3) of the FRR;
 - (ii) section 23 clarifies the types of segregated accounts in which an LC may hold client money for the purposes of section 37 of the FRR;
 - (iii) <u>section 25</u> provides for the treatment of illiquid and miscellaneous investments;

- (iv) <u>section 26</u> clarifies the treatment of certain net underwriting commitments;
- (v) section 28 adds new section 51A to the FRR to provide for the treatment of certain foreign currency positions;
- (vi) section 29 makes consequential amendments to remove references to foreign currency positions (to be provided for in new section 51A), and provides for the inclusion in ranking liabilities of certain amounts as a consequence of an LC electing to include certain controlled assets in its liquid assets under new section 18A(3); and
- (vii) <u>section 30</u> provides for the treatment of certain liabilities arising from tenancy agreements in respect of premises used by an LC for carrying on a regulated activity;
- (viii) <u>sections 32, 34 and 37</u> make minor drafting amendments to the English text to substitute plain language expressions for the word "shall";
- (ix) section 33 amends section 58 of the FRR to empower the SFC to—
 - (i) specify ratings issued by Fitch Ratings for the purposes of approving a credit rating agency under section 58(1)(b) of the FRR;
 - (ii) approve the calculation of haircut percentages relating to certain baskets of securities on a weighted average basis under new section 58(5)(h) of the FRR; and
 - (iii) approve the setting-off of certain amounts, for the purposes of new section 11(7) of the FRR;
- (x) section 35 amends Schedule 2 to the FRR to vary certain haircut percentages applicable in certain calculations under Part 4 of the FRR, and to make consequential amendments to align the Schedule with the definitions of haircut amount and haircut percentage in new sections 2B and 2C of the FRR (as added by section 4)—
 - (i) section 35(2) substitutes Table 1 in the Schedule to set out haircut percentages for all listed shares, and to expand and restructure existing Tables 1, 2 and 3 in the Schedule for better presentation (section 35(3) repeals Tables 2 and 3), and substitutes Table 1A in the Schedule to set out haircut percentages for shares listed in Hong Kong for the purpose

- of calculating haircut amounts under section 22(1)(b)(i) of the FRR;
- (ii) section 35(5) to (15) adds Fitch Ratings to Table 4 in the Schedule;

(iii) <u>section 35(16)</u> —

- (A) substitutes Table 5 in the Schedule to add definitions used in the Table and to amend the headings of the columns in the Table;
- (B) substitutes Table 6 in the Schedule to add definitions used in the Table and to set out more particular haircut percentages for certain special debt securities:
- (C) substitutes Table 7 in the Schedule to set out more particular haircut percentages for funds;
- (D) substitutes Table 8 in the Schedule for better clarity and presentation; and
- (E) adds Table 9 in the Schedule to provide haircut percentages for illiquid and miscellaneous investments; and
- (xi) section 36 substitutes Schedule 3 to the FRR to expand the list of specified exchanges and to update the names of several exchanges which are specified exchanges under the existing Schedule 3.

COMMENCEMENT

26. The Amendment Rules will be published in the Gazette on 19 October 2018 and tabled before LegCo at its sitting on 24 October 2018. The Amendment Rules, except sections 1, 2, 3(2), (3) and (4) and 30, will come into operation on 1 April 2019. Sections 1, 2, 3(2), (3) and (4) and 30 of the Amendment Rules⁸ will come into operation on 1 January 2019.

FINANCIAL AND STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

27. There are no financial or staffing implications for the Government

Provisions that are relating to the implementation of the new accounting rules in relation to tenancy agreements (see paragraph 23) that will come into effect on 1 January 2019.

or the SFC.

PUBLIC CONSULTATION

- 28. The SFC conducted a public consultation on the proposed amendments to the FRR from July to August 2017. Eight submissions were received from various market practitioners, professional firms and industry associations. Respondents who provided comments generally welcomed and supported the proposed changes. The SFC has taken into account their responses in finalizing the above amendments.
- 29. The SFC briefed the Legislative Council Panel on Financial Affairs on the proposals on 4 June 2018. Panel members were generally supportive of the proposed directions of the amendments.

PUBLICITY

30. The SFC will publish the consultation conclusions and issue a press release on 19 October 2018 upon the gazettal of the Amendment Rules.

ENQUIRIES

31. Any enquiries on this brief may be addressed to Mr. George Tsoi, Principal Assistant Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury (Financial Services) at 2810 2056; Mr. Keith Choy, Senior Director; or Mr. Leo Lam, Director, of the Intermediaries Supervision of Intermediaries Division of the SFC at 2231 1670 and 2231 1642 respectively.

The Securities and Futures Commission 15 October 2018



Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Contents

Section			Page
1.	Commencement		
2.	Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules amended		
3.	Section 2 amended (interpretation)		1
4.	Sections 2A to 2G added		
	2A.	Meaning of gross foreign currency position	16
	2B.	Meaning of haircut amount	18
	2C.	Meaning of haircut percentage	20
	2D.	Meaning of listed	24
	2E.	Meaning of miscellaneous investment	25
	2F.	Meaning of structured note	26
	2G.	References to exchange and clearing house	32
5.	Section 3	amended (accounting treatment)	33
6.	Section 6 amended (liquid capital requirement for licensed		
	corporatio	ns)	34
7.		amended (accounting for transactions on trade date	
	basis)		
0	0 - 1 0	1 -4*4 4 - 1	2.0

Annex

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Page	Section	
Valuations35		
on 11 amended (no set-off)	9.	
on 12 amended (transactions in margined accounts)	10.	
Section 18 amended (exclusions from liquid assets)		
Section 18A added		
Exclusion of assets where remittance or exchange controls apply		
on 19 amended (assets provided to others as security)	13.	
on 20 amended (cash in hand and at bank)41	14.	
on 21 amended (amounts receivable from clients in ect of purchase of and subscription for securities)	15.	
on 22 amended (amounts receivable in respect of iding securities margin financing)	16.	
on 23 amended (amounts receivable from counterparties spect of dealings in securities)	17.	
on 28 amended (amounts receivable from clearing es, etc.)	18.	
ions 29 and 30 substituted54	19.	
Amounts receivable from other dealers and clearing participants in respect of futures contracts, unlisted options contracts and		

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

iii

Section	Page		
	30. Amounts receivable from clients in respect of purchase of exchange-traded unlisted options contracts		
20			
20.	Section 31 amended (exchange-traded options contracts trading for own account)		
21.	Section 35 amended (miscellaneous assets)		
22.	Section 36A added		
	36A. Controlled assets where election made under section 18A(3)		
23.	Section 37 amended (amounts payable to clients, etc.)		
24.	Section 40 amended (futures contracts and options contracts		
	dealing, etc.)		
25.	Section 43 amended (short positions in securities (other than		
	options contracts) and specified investments)		
26.	Section 47 amended (net underwriting commitments)		
27.	Section 51 amended (introduction of transactions)		
28.	Section 51A added		
	51A. Foreign currency positions		
29.	Section 52 amended (miscellaneous)		
30.	Section 53 amended (other liabilities)		
31.	Section 55 amended (licensed corporations to notify Commission of circumstances relating to financial resources		

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

iv

Section	I	Page
	and trading activities and to submit returns in certain cases)	69
32.	Section 56 amended (licensed corporations to submit returns	
	to Commission)	70
33.	Section 58 amended (approvals)	71
34.	Section 59 amended (withdrawal of elections made under	
	these Rules)	73
35.	Schedule 2 amended (haircut percentages)	7 3
36.	Schedule 3 substituted	94
	Schedule 3 Specified Exchanges	94
37.	"must" substituted for "shall"	97

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

(Made by the Securities and Futures Commission under section 145 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) after consultation with the Financial Secretary)

1. Commencement

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), these Rules come into operation on 1 April 2019.
- (2) Sections 1, 2, 3(2), (3) and (4) and 30 come into operation on 1 January 2019.

2. Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules amended

The Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (Cap. 571 sub. leg. N) are amended as set out in sections 3 to 37.

3. Section 2 amended (interpretation)

(1) Section 2(1), definition of *adjusted liabilities*, paragraph (a)(v)—

Repeal

"options contracts"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts".

(2) Section 2(1), definition of *adjusted liabilities*, paragraph (a)(v)—

Repeal

"; and"

Substitute a semicolon.

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

(3) Section 2(1), definition of *adjusted liabilities*, paragraph (b), after "provided to it;"—

2

Add

Section 3

"and".

(4) Section 2(1), definition of *adjusted liabilities*, after paragraph (b)—

Add

- "(c) any amount of its on-balance sheet liabilities which-
 - (i) arises from a tenancy agreement entered into by it in respect of any premises which it uses in carrying on the regulated activity for which it is licensed; and
 - (ii) is equal to the total value of its assets arising from the tenancy agreement which are not included in its liquid assets under any provision in Division 3 of Part 4;".
- (5) Section 2(1), definition of amount of margin required to be deposited—

Repeal

"options contract,"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract,".

(6) Section 2(1), definition of amount of margin required to be deposited, paragraph (c)—

Repeal

"options contract"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract".

(7) Section 2(1), definition of basic amount, paragraphs (b) and (c)—

Repeal

"options contracts"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts".

(8) Section 2(1), definition of *clearing house*, paragraph (a)—

Repeal

"options contracts"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts".

(9) Section 2(1), definition of equity linked instruments—

Repeal

"equity linked"

Substitute

"equity-linked".

(10) Section 2(1), definition of *floating losses*, paragraph (g)—

Repeal

"or".

(11) Section 2(1), definition of *floating losses*, after paragraph (h)—

Add

- "(i) an illiquid investment; or
- (j) a miscellaneous investment;".
- (12) Section 2(1), definition of *floating profits*, paragraph (g)—
 Repeal

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 3

4

"or".

(13) Section 2(1), definition of *floating profits*, after paragraph (h)—

Add

- "(i) an illiquid investment; or
- (j) a miscellaneous investment;".
- (14) Section 2(1), definition of *futures or options clearing house*, paragraphs (a) and (b)(i)(A) and (B)—

Repeal

"options contracts"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts".

(15) Section 2(1)—

Repeal the definition of gross foreign currency position Substitute

"gross foreign currency position (外幣總持倉量)—see section 2A;".

(16) Section 2(1)—

Repeal the definition of haircut amount

Substitute

"haircut amount (扣減數額)—see section 2B;".

(17) Section 2(1)—

Repeal the definition of haircut percentage Substitute

"haircut percentage (扣減百分率)—see section 2C;".

(18) Section 2(1), definition of *initial margin requirement*—

Repeal

"options contract,"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract,".

(19) Section 2(1), definition of *initial margin requirement*, paragraph (a)—

5

Repeal

"options contract"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract".

(20) Section 2(1), definition of *in-the-money amount*—

Repeal

everything after ""N" represents-"

Substitute

- "(i) if the asset underlying the options contract or warrant is shares—the number of such shares;
- (ii) if the asset underlying the options contract is an asset other than shares—the number of units of such asset; or
- (iii) if an index underlies the options contract—the contract multiplier;

"M" represents-

- (i) if the asset underlying the options contract or warrant is shares—the market value of one such share;
- (ii) if the asset underlying the options contract is an asset other than shares—the market value of one unit of such asset; or

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 3

(iii) if an index underlies the options contract—the current level of the index; and

6

"S" represents the strike price of the options contract or the exercise price of the warrant—

- (i) if the asset underlying the options contract or warrant is shares—for one such share;
- (ii) if the asset underlying the options contract is an asset other than shares—for one unit of such asset; or
- (iii) if an index underlies the options contract—for the index:".
- (21) Section 2(1)—

Repeal the definition of listed

Substitute

"listed (上市)—see section 2D;".

(22) Section 2(1), definition of *marking to market*, paragraph (g)—

Repeal

"or".

(23) Section 2(1), English text, definition of *marking to market*, paragraph (h)—

Repeal the comma

Substitute a semicolon.

(24) Section 2(1), definition of *marking to market*, after paragraph (h)—

Add

- "(i) an illiquid investment; or
- (j) a miscellaneous investment,".

(25) Section 2(1), English text, definition of no sponsor work licensing condition—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(26) Section 2(1), definition of qualifying debt securities— Repeal paragraph (a)(iii).

(27) Section 2(1), definition of qualifying debt securities, paragraph (a)(iv)(B)—

Repeal

"; or"

Substitute a semicolon.

(28) Section 2(1), definition of *qualifying debt securities*, after paragraph (a)(iv)(B)—

Add

"(BA) Fitch Ratings at either BBB or F3 or above; or".

(29) Section 2(1), definition of *qualifying debt securities*, paragraph (a)(v)(B)—

Repeal

"; or"

Substitute a semicolon.

(30) Section 2(1), definition of *qualifying debt securities*, after paragraph (a)(v)(B)—

Add

"(BA) Fitch Ratings at either A or F2 or above; or".

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 3

8

(31) Section 2(1), definition of *qualifying debt securities*, paragraph (a)(vii)—

Repeal

"and".

(32) Section 2(1), definition of *qualifying debt securities*, paragraph (a)(viii)—

Repeal

"; or"

Substitute a semicolon.

(33) Section 2(1), definition of *qualifying debt securities*, after paragraph (a)(viii)—

Add

- "(ix) any structured product other than a bond-
 - (A) that has a coupon rate which has an inverse relationship to a money market or interbank reference interest rate that is widely quoted; or
 - (B) under which the principal value or coupon payments are linked to an inflation rate;
- (x) any securities or instrument the terms and conditions of which provide that, on the occurrence of one or more events specified in the terms and conditions, one or both of the following must apply in relation to the principal value—
 - (A) the principal value is to be fully or partially converted into or exchanged for shares of the issuer or a related corporation of the issuer;
 - (B) the principal value is to be fully or partially written down; or
- (xi) an illiquid investment; or".

(34) Section 2(1)—

Repeal the definition of segregated account

Substitute

"segregated account (獨立帳户), in relation to a licensed corporation, means an account established and maintained by it, which—

- (a) is a segregated account within the meaning of section 2 of the Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules (Cap. 571 sub. leg. I); or
- (b) is an account for holding client money which is separate from its own account;".
- (35) Section 2(1), definition of special debt securities—

Repeal

everything after "means" and before "and non-interest bearing"

Substitute

"structured notes, specified convertible debt securities, specified bonds".

(36) Section 2(1), definition of special debt securities—

Repeal paragraph (c).

(37) Section 2(1), definition of *special debt securities*, paragraph (d)(ii)—

Repeal

"; or"

Substitute a semicolon.

(38) Section 2(1), definition of *special debt securities*, after paragraph (d)(ii)—

Add

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 3

10

- "(iia) Fitch Ratings at either BBB or F3 or above; or".
- (39) Section 2(1), definition of *special debt securities*, paragraph (e)(ii)—

Repeal

"; or"

Substitute a semicolon.

(40) Section 2(1), definition of *special debt securities*, after paragraph (e)(ii)—

Add

- "(iia) Fitch Ratings at either A or F2 or above; or".
- (41) Section 2(1), definition of *special debt securities*, paragraph (f)—

Repeal

"and".

(42) Section 2(1), definition of *special debt securities*, after paragraph (g)—

Add

- "(h) any securities or instrument the terms and conditions of which provide that, on the occurrence of one or more events specified in the terms and conditions, one or both of the following must apply in relation to the principal value—
 - (i) the principal value is to be fully or partially converted into or exchanged for shares of the issuer or a related corporation of the issuer;
 - (ii) the principal value is to be fully or partially written down; or
 - (i) an illiquid investment;".
- (43) Section 2(1)—

Repeal the definition of specified investments

Substitute

"specified investment (指明投資項目) means an investment specified in column 2 of Table 8 in Schedule 2, but does not include an illiquid investment;".

(44) Section 2(1), English text, definition of *specified licensing* condition—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(45) Section 2(1), definition of *specified securities*, after "in Schedule 2"—

Add

", but does not include an illiquid investment".

(46) Section 2(1), definition of stock options contract—

Repeal

"a contract"

Substitute

"an unlisted options contract".

(47) Section 2(1), definition of *trade date*, paragraph (g)—

Repeal

"or".

(48) Section 2(1), definition of *trade date*, paragraph (h)—

Repeal the comma

Substitute a semicolon.

(49) Section 2(1), definition of *trade date*, after paragraph (h)—

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 3

- "(ha) an illiquid investment; or
- (hb) a miscellaneous investment,".
- (50) Section 2(1)—

Add

Add in alphabetical order

"authorized fund (認可基金) means a unit trust or mutual fund that is authorized by the Commission under section 104 of the Ordinance;

controlled asset (受管制資產) means an asset—

- (a) that is an amount of a currency which, because a relevant prohibition applies to the currency, cannot (or cannot without approval from an authority or regulatory organization)—
 - (i) be remitted to Hong Kong; or
 - (ii) be exchanged into another currency which can be remitted to Hong Kong; or

12

- (b) the proceeds of which on realization cannot (or cannot without approval from an authority or regulatory organization) be remitted to Hong Kong, because a relevant prohibition applies to the proceeds;
- coupon payment (票息付款), in relation to any securities or instrument, means a payment of interest (or other periodic return of a similar nature) to the holder of the securities or instrument during the tenor of securities or instrument, that is calculated by reference to the principal value in accordance with the terms and conditions of the securities or instrument;

equities (股本) means shares issued by a corporation (including shares in a mutual fund) and units in a unit trust;

- general clearing participant of HKSCC (香港結算公司全面結算所參與者) means a clearing participant of HKSCC that is authorized in accordance with the rules of HKSCC to provide general clearing services to exchange participants of the Stock Exchange Company;
- HKSCC (香港結算公司) means the recognized clearing house known as Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited;

illiquid investment (低流通性投資項目) means—

- (a) shares that are not listed, except shares in a mutual fund that do not fall within paragraph (b);
- (b) units in a unit trust or shares in a mutual fund, where the unit trust or mutual fund—
 - (i) is not an authorized fund, a recognized jurisdiction fund or a specified exchange traded fund; or
 - (ii) is an authorized fund or a recognized jurisdiction fund, but—
 - (A) is not a specified exchange traded fund; and
 - (B) the units or shares are not redeemable within 30 days;
- (c) debt securities that are not marketable debt securities;
- (d) listed securities that have been suspended from trading for at least 3 trading days or ceased trading on any exchange on which the securities were

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 3 14

listed, except where the securities can continue to be traded on any other exchange on which the securities are listed; or

(e) a commodity that is not a tradable commodity; marketable debt securities (有價債務證券) means—

- (a) certificates of deposit issued by an authorized financial institution or an approved bank incorporated outside Hong Kong; or
- (b) debt securities (other than certificates of deposit referred to in paragraph (a)) in respect of which—
 - (i) there are genuine offers to buy and sell so that a price reasonably related to the last sales price or current bid and offer quotations can be determined within 1 business day, and transactions can be settled at that determined price promptly in accordance with trading conventions; or
 - (ii) quotations are available within 1 business day from any combination of 2 or more of the following persons who customarily deal in the debt securities—
 - (A) market makers;
 - (B) banks;
 - (C) securities dealers outside Hong Kong;
 - (D) licensed corporations;

miscellaneous investment (雜項投資項目)—see section 2E;

principal value (本金額), in relation to any securities or instrument, means the nominal, face, par or similar value of the securities or instrument;

recognized jurisdiction fund (認可司法管轄區基金) means a unit trust or mutual fund that—

- (a) is regulated in a jurisdiction outside Hong Kong, regardless of whether it is also an authorized fund;
 and
- (b) falls within all of the criteria (including, as to the jurisdiction outside Hong Kong in which it is regulated, the applicable laws of that jurisdiction and the type of scheme that it constitutes under those laws) published on the Commission's website for the purposes of the provisions of UT Code relating to recognition of certain overseas collective investment schemes;
- relevant prohibition (相關禁制), in relation to a controlled asset or the proceeds of a controlled asset, means a prohibition imposed under the laws of, or by an authority or regulatory organization in, a jurisdiction, and includes a prohibition that does not apply to a person in relation to the controlled asset or proceeds only if the person obtains approval from a particular authority or regulatory organization in the jurisdiction;
- specified bond (指明債券) means a bond with non-detachable warrants under which the holder of the bond has the right (but not the obligation) to buy a specified number of shares in the issuer (or a related corporation of the issuer) of the bond;
- specified convertible debt securities (指明可轉換債務證券) means convertible debt securities under which the holder of the securities has the right (but not the obligation) to buy a specified number of shares in the issuer (or a related corporation of the issuer) of the securities;

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 4 16

specified exchange traded fund (指明交易所買賣基金) means a unit trust or mutual fund the units or shares of which are listed on a specified exchange;

structured note (結構性票據)—see section 2F;

- tradable commodity (流通商品) means a physical commodity of a quantity, quality and condition suitable for delivery under a tradable contract;
- tradable contract (流通合約) means a futures contract or an unlisted options contract that is traded on a specified exchange;
- trading day (交易日), in relation to listed securities, means a day on which the exchange on which the securities are listed is open for trading;
- unlisted options contract (非上市期權合約) means an options contract that is not listed securities;
- UT Code (《單位信託守則》) means the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds published by the Commission under section 399 of the Ordinance;".
- (51) Section 2—

Repeal subsection (2).

4. Sections 2A to 2G added

Part 1, after section 2—

Add

"2A. Meaning of gross foreign currency position

(1) In these Rules—

gross foreign currency position (外幣總持倉量), in relation to a licensed corporation's position in a foreign currency, means the total of—

(a) the aggregate of-

- (i) the value of assets, other than fixed assets, beneficially owned by the licensed corporation which are denominated in the foreign currency; and
- (ii) all of the licensed corporation's on-balance sheet liabilities, other than excluded liabilities, which are denominated in the foreign currency; and
- (b) subject to subsection (2), the aggregate of—
 - the total amount of the foreign currency in respect of which the licensed corporation is exposed to the risk of a decline in the value of the foreign currency under outstanding contracts (including spot contracts); and
 - (ii) the total amount of the foreign currency in respect of which the licensed corporation is exposed to the risk of a rise in the value of the foreign currency under outstanding contracts (including spot contracts).
- (2) In respect of a pair of outstanding contracts referred to in subsection (3), the licensed corporation must include in the amounts referred to in paragraph (b) of the definition of *gross foreign currency position* in subsection (1) the amounts specified in subsection (4).
- (3) Subsection (2) applies in respect of a pair of outstanding contracts which the licensed corporation holds with a client (except a client whose account with the licensed corporation is an omnibus account) if the licensed corporation—

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 4

(a) under one of the contracts (contract 1), is exposed to the risk of a decline in the value of an amount of a currency (currency A) and to the risk of a rise in the value of an amount (amount X) of another currency (currency B); and

18

- (b) under the other contract (contract 2), is exposed to the risk of a decline in the value of amount X of currency B and to the risk of a rise in the value of an amount of currency A.
- (4) The amounts specified are—
 - (a) in relation to currency A—the higher of the amounts in respect of which the licensed corporation is exposed to the risk of a decline in the value of currency A under contract 1 and to the risk of a rise in the value of currency A under contract 2; and
 - (b) in relation to currency B—the amount X.

2B. Meaning of haircut amount

(1) In these Rules—

haircut amount (扫減數額), subject to subsection (2), means, in relation to—

- (a) any listed shares (except shares that are specified securities or an illiquid investment)—an amount derived by multiplying the market value of the shares by the haircut percentage in relation to the shares;
- (b) any qualifying debt securities—an amount derived by multiplying the market value of the qualifying debt securities by the haircut percentage in relation to the qualifying debt securities;

Section 4

19

- (c) any special debt securities—an amount derived by multiplying the market value of the special debt securities by the haircut percentage in relation to the special debt securities;
- (d) any specified securities—an amount derived by multiplying the market value of the specified securities by the haircut percentage in relation to the specified securities;
- (e) a specified investment—an amount derived by multiplying the market value of the specified investment by the haircut percentage in relation to the specified investment;
- (f) an illiquid investment—an amount derived by multiplying the market value of the illiquid investment by the haircut percentage in relation to the illiquid investment; or
- (g) a miscellaneous investment—an amount derived by multiplying the market value of the miscellaneous investment by the haircut percentage in relation to the miscellaneous investment.
- (2) In relation to any securities or investment referred to in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f) or (g) of the definition of *haircut amount* in subsection (1) that aims to deliver a daily return on the securities or investment that is equivalent to a certain multiple (*leverage factor*) of the daily return on a particular index or particular reference asset, *haircut amount* (扫滅數額) means—
 - (a) if the maximum loss that may be incurred in relation to the securities or investment is the market value of the securities or investment and the relevant holding is not a short position—the lower of—

i) the market value; and

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

- (ii) an amount derived by multiplying the amount referred to in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f) or (g) of the definition of *haircut amount* in subsection (1) (as applicable) by the leverage factor; or
- (b) in any other case—an amount derived by multiplying the amount referred to in paragraph (a),
 (b), (c), (d), (e), (f) or (g) of the definition of haircut amount in subsection (1) (as applicable) by the leverage factor.

2C. Meaning of haircut percentage

(1) In these Rules—

haircut percentage (扣減百分率) means, in relation to—

- (a) any listed shares (except shares that are specified securities or an illiquid investment)—the percentage specified in subsection (2) or (3);
- (b) any qualifying debt securities—the percentage specified in subsection (4);
- (c) any special debt securities—the percentage specified in subsection (5);
- (d) any specified securities—the percentage specified in subsection (6);
- (e) a specified investment—the percentage specified in subsection (7); or
- (f) an illiquid investment or a miscellaneous investment—the percentage specified in subsection (8).
- (2) Subject to subsection (3), in relation to any listed shares (except shares that are specified securities or an illiquid

Section 4

- (a) subject to paragraphs (b) and (c), the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1 in Schedule 2 (*Table 1*) opposite the applicable description set out in column 2 of Table 1;
- (b) if the shares fall within more than one of the descriptions set out in column 2 of Table 1—the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1 opposite any of the applicable descriptions set out in column 2 of Table 1, as elected by a licensed corporation; or
- (c) if the shares fall within a description set out in—
 - (i) item 1(a) or (b) in column 2 of Table 1—the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1 opposite the description set out in item 1(c) in column 2 of Table 1, if elected by a licensed corporation;
 - (ii) item 2(a)(i) in column 2 of Table 1—the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1 opposite the description set out in item 2(a)(ii) in column 2 of Table 1, if elected by a licensed corporation;
 - (iii) item 3(a)(i) in column 2 of Table 1—the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1 opposite the description set out in item 3(a)(ii) in column 2 of Table 1, if elected by a licensed corporation;
 - (iv) item 4(a)(i) in column 2 of Table 1—the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1 opposite the description set out in item

4(a)(ii) in column 2 of Table 1, if elected by a licensed corporation; or

- (v) item 5(a) in column 2 of Table 1—the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1 opposite the description set out in item 5(b) in column 2 of Table 1, if elected by a licensed corporation.
- (3) For the purpose of calculating the haircut amount under section 22(1)(b)(i), in relation to any listed shares (except shares that are specified securities or an illiquid investment) that are listed on a recognized stock market and specified in column 2 of Table 1A in Schedule 2 (Table 1A), the percentage specified for the purposes of paragraph (a) of the definition of haircut percentage in subsection (1) is—

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

- (a) subject to paragraphs (b) and (c) (and regardless of whether the shares also fall within any of the descriptions set out in column 2 of Table 1), the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1A opposite the applicable description set out in column 2 of Table 1A;
- (b) if, in a particular month, the shares described in item 1(a), (b), (c) or (d) in column 2 of Table 1A cease to be a constituent of the applicable index and the cessation would result in the assignment to the shares of a percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1A that is higher than the percentage which applied to the shares immediately prior to the cessation (*original percentage*)—the original percentage, but only in relation to the particular month and for the period of the next 3 consecutive months; or

- (c) if the shares fall within a description set out in item 1(a), (b), (c) or (d) in column 2 of Table 1A—the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 1A opposite the applicable description set out in item 1(e) in column 2 of Table 1A, if elected by a licensed corporation.
- (4) In relation to any qualifying debt securities, the percentage specified for the purposes of paragraph (b) of the definition of *haircut percentage* in subsection (1) is the aggregate of—
 - (a) the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 4 in Schedule 2 opposite the applicable description set out in column 2 of that Table; and
 - (b) the percentage specified in column 2 or 3 (as the case may be) of Table 5 in Schedule 2 opposite the applicable description set out in column 1 of that Table.
- (5) In relation to any special debt securities, the percentage specified for the purposes of paragraph (c) of the definition of *haircut percentage* in subsection (1) is the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 6 in Schedule 2 opposite the applicable description set out in column 2 of that Table.
- (6) In relation to any specified securities, the percentage specified for the purposes of paragraph (d) of the definition of *haircut percentage* in subsection (1) is the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 7 in Schedule 2 opposite the applicable description set out in column 2 of that Table.
- (7) In relation to a specified investment, the percentage specified for the purposes of paragraph (e) of the definition of *haircut percentage* in subsection (1) is the

percentage specified in column 3 of Table 8 in Schedule 2 opposite the applicable description set out in column 2 of that Table.

(8) In relation to an illiquid investment or a miscellaneous investment, the percentage specified for the purposes of paragraph (f) of the definition of *haircut percentage* in subsection (1) is the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 9 in Schedule 2 opposite the applicable description set out in column 2 of that Table.

2D. Meaning of listed

(1) In these Rules—

listed (上市), in relation to securities which—

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

- (a) for the purposes of the definition of *listed* in section 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Ordinance are regarded as listed on a recognized stock market—has the meaning given by that section;
- (b) are regarded as listed on an exchange located in a jurisdiction outside Hong Kong under the laws or regulations of the jurisdiction—means listed on that exchange; or
- (c) are admitted to trading on an exchange—means listed on that exchange if—
 - (i) under the laws or regulations of the jurisdiction in which the exchange is located, the securities are regarded as listed on a different exchange located in the same jurisdiction; or
 - (ii) under the laws or regulations of a jurisdiction other than the jurisdiction in which the exchange is located, the securities are

regarded as listed on an exchange located in that other jurisdiction.

- (2) For the purposes of the definition of *listed* in subsection (1), securities are to continue to be regarded as listed on, or admitted to trading on, a particular exchange during a period of suspension of dealings in the securities on that exchange.
- (3) Despite the definition of *listed* in subsection (1), securities are not to be regarded as listed on, or admitted to trading on, a particular exchange merely because the exchange provides (directly or indirectly) facilities for—
 - (a) effecting transactions in the securities on a different exchange; or
 - (b) transmitting or otherwise communicating by any means offers to effect transactions in the securities on a different exchange.
- (4) Despite the definition of *listed* in subsection (1), securities that are options contracts with standardized contractual terms and conditions specified by a particular exchange are not to be regarded as listed on the particular exchange or on any other exchange on which they are admitted to trading.

2E. Meaning of miscellaneous investment

- (1) In these Rules—
- miscellaneous investment (雜項投資項目), subject to subsection (2), means any asset or instrument held by a person for the purpose, or with the intention, of—
 - (a) resale;
 - (b) securing a profit from fluctuations in the value of the asset or instrument;

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

(c) locking in arbitrage profits; or

Section 4

(d) hedging any risks of any other asset or instrument held by the person which falls within paragraph (a), (b) or (c).

26

- (2) A *miscellaneous investment* does not include the following assets or instruments held by a person—
 - (a) any securities that fall within any of the descriptions set out in—
 - (i) column 2 of Table 1, 1A, 4, 6 or 7 in Schedule 2;
 - (ii) column 2 or 3 of Table 5 in Schedule 2; or
 - (iii) item 2 in column 2 of Table 8 in Schedule 2;
 - (b) any securities that are unlisted options contracts;
 - (c) a derivative contract that is not securities:
 - (d) a specified investment;
 - (e) an illiquid investment;
 - (f) a foreign exchange agreement;
 - (g) a leveraged foreign exchange contract;
 - (h) a fixed asset;
 - (i) cash;
 - (j) a bank deposit;
 - (k) any loan, advance, credit facility or other financial accommodation provided by the person to another person;
 - (l) any amount receivable by the person.

2F. Meaning of structured note

(1) In these Rules—

Section 4

structured note (結構性票據) means an instrument—

- (a) that is in the form of a bond, debenture or note;
- (b) that acknowledges, evidences or creates indebtedness, regardless of whether—
 - (i) the holder of the instrument has the right to receive the principal value on or before maturity; or
 - (ii) the issuer of the instrument has the right to terminate the instrument before maturity;
- (c) that is a structured product within the meaning of section 1A of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Ordinance, except a structured product that—
 - (i) falls within subsection (1)(a)(ii) or (iii) or (b) of that section; or
 - (ii) is an OTC derivative product; and
- (d) under the terms and conditions of which the holder is to receive a bearish return or a bullish return (whether or not subject to any deduction or payment of any expense or charge under those terms and conditions) that is determined by comparing the strike price and the settlement price of—
 - (i) a permitted underlying asset; or
 - (ii) a permitted underlying type of rate or index.
- (2) For the purposes of the definition of *structured note* in subsection (1)—

bearish return (看跌式回報), in relation to an instrument, means—

(a) both of the following—

 (i) on or before maturity or termination, one or more coupon payments;

28

- (ii) on or after maturity or termination, an amount referred to in paragraph (b); or
- (b) any of the following, on or after maturity or termination—
 - (i) if the settlement price is below the strike price—settlement amount 1;
 - (ii) if the settlement price exceeds the strike price—settlement amount 4;
 - (iii) if the settlement price is equal to the strike price—
 - (A) settlement amount 1; or
 - (B) settlement amount 4;

bullish return (看漲式回報), in relation to an instrument, means—

- (a) both of the following—
 - (i) on or before maturity or termination, one or more coupon payments;
 - (ii) on or after maturity or termination, an amount or quantity referred to in paragraph (b); or
- (b) any of the following, on or after maturity or termination—
 - (i) if the settlement price exceeds the strike price—settlement amount 1;
 - (ii) if the settlement price is below the strike price and the instrument has a permitted underlying asset—
 - (A) the settlement quantity;

Section 4

- 3) settlement amount 2; or
- (C) an amount and a number of units of the permitted underlying asset which together are equivalent in value to settlement amount 2;
- (iii) if the settlement price is below the strike price and the instrument has a permitted underlying type of rate or index—settlement amount 3;
- (iv) if the settlement price is equal to the strike price and the instrument has a permitted underlying asset—
 - (A) the settlement quantity;
 - (B) settlement amount 1;
 - (C) settlement amount 2; or
 - (D) an amount and a number of units of the permitted underlying asset which together are equivalent in value to settlement amount 2;
- (v) if the settlement price is equal to the strike price and the instrument has a permitted underlying type of rate or index—
 - (A) settlement amount 1; or
 - (B) settlement amount 3;

maturity (到期), in relation to an instrument, means the date on which the instrument is due to mature;

permitted interest rate (許可利率) means a money market or interbank reference interest rate that is widely quoted in a market that is domiciled in a jurisdiction which is rated by—

(a) Moody's Investors Service at either Baa or Prime-3 or above;

- (b) Standard & Poor's Corporation at either BBB or A-3 or above; or
- (c) Fitch Ratings at either BBB or F3 or above;

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

permitted securities (許可證券) means securities other than—

- (a) special debt securities;
- (b) an illiquid investment;
- (c) a miscellaneous investment;
- (d) a derivative contract; or
- (e) a structured product;

permitted underlying asset (許可相關資產), in relation to an instrument, means a single asset that is—

- (a) permitted securities; or
- (b) a tradable commodity;

permitted underlying type of rate or index (屬許可類別的相關比率或指數), in relation to an instrument, means a single type of—

- (a) permitted interest rate;
- (b) currency exchange rate;
- (c) tradable securities index;
- (d) tradable commodity index; or
- (e) tradable currency exchange rate index;

settlement amount 1 (交收數額 1), in relation to an instrument, means the sum of the principal value and the outstanding coupon payments;

settlement amount 2 (交收數額 2), in relation to an instrument that has a permitted underlying asset, means

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

the value of the settlement quantity calculated in accordance with the following formula—

settlement quantity × settlement price;

settlement amount 3 (交收數額 3), in relation to an instrument that has a permitted underlying type of rate or index, means an amount calculated in accordance with the following formula—

- settlement amount 4 (交收數額 4), in relation to an instrument, means the higher of—
 - (a) an amount calculated in accordance with the following formula—

settlement amount
$$1 - \frac{\text{settlement amount } 1}{\text{strike price}}$$

(settlement price - strike price); and

- (b) zero;
- settlement price (交收價) means a price or value of 1 unit of a permitted underlying asset or a level of a permitted underlying type of rate or index that, for the purposes of determining the bearish return or the bullish return under the terms and conditions of an instrument, is—
 - (a) quoted in a market specified in those terms and conditions at a time specified in, or to be determined in accordance with a method specified in, those terms and conditions; or
 - (b) determined in accordance with a method specified in those terms and conditions;

settlement quantity (交收數量), in relation to an instrument that has a permitted underlying asset, means the number of units of the asset calculated in accordance with the following formula—

settlement amount 1 ÷ strike price;

- strike price (行使價) means a price or value of 1 unit of a permitted underlying asset or a level of a permitted underlying type of rate or index that is specified in the terms and conditions of an instrument for the purposes of determining the bearish return or the bullish return under those terms and conditions;
- termination (終止), in relation to an instrument, means a date before maturity on which the instrument terminates in accordance with the terms and conditions of the instrument or by agreement between the parties to the instrument;
- tradable commodity index (流通商品指數) means a tradable index that is calculated by reference to changes in the price or value of a basket of tradable commodities;
- tradable currency exchange rate index (流通貨幣匯率指數) means a tradable index that is calculated by reference to changes in the level of a combination of more than one type of currency exchange rate;
- tradable index (流通指數) means an index that is traded under a tradable contract;
- tradable securities index (流通證券指數) means a tradable index that is calculated by reference to changes in the price or value of a basket of permitted securities.

2G. References to exchange and clearing house

In these Rules, a reference to—

- (a) an exchange includes a reference to any market operated by that exchange; and
- (b) an exchange or clearing house that is specified by name and, after the day on which it is specified—
 - changes its name, is to be read as if it is a reference to the name by which the exchange or clearing house is presently known; or
 - ii) is succeeded by another exchange or clearing house (whether by reason of merger, amalgamation or otherwise), is to be read as if it is a reference to the successor exchange or clearing house.".

5. Section 3 amended (accounting treatment)

(1) Section 3(1), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 3(1)(b)—

Repeal

everything after "arrangement or position"

Substitute a full stop.

(3) Section 3(2), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

34

6. Section 6 amended (liquid capital requirement for licensed corporations)

(1) Section 6(1), English text—

Repeal

Section 6

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 6(3)(d)(ii)—

Repeal

"options contracts"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts".

7. Section 8 amended (accounting for transactions on trade date basis)

Section 8-

Repeal

everything after "required liquid capital,"

Substitute

"must account on a trade date basis for all transactions effected by it, whether as principal or agent, in relation to any dealing or trading in, or entering into—

- (a) a futures contract;
- (b) any securities;
- (c) an options contract;
- (d) a derivative contract;
- (e) a specified investment;

- Section 8
- a leveraged foreign exchange contract;
- a foreign exchange agreement;
- an interest rate swap agreement;
- an illiquid investment; or
- a miscellaneous investment,".

8. Section 9 substituted

Section 9—

Repeal the section

Substitute

Valuations

- This section applies to the following instruments or assets
 - a futures contract;
 - any securities;
 - an options contract;
 - a derivative contract;
 - a specified investment;
 - a leveraged foreign exchange contract;
 - a foreign exchange agreement;
 - an interest rate swap agreement;
 - an asset underlying a non-collateralized warrant that is issued by a licensed corporation;
 - an asset, other than shares, underlying an options contract;
 - an illiquid investment;
 - a miscellaneous investment.

Any reference in these Rules to the market value of an instrument or asset referred to in subsection (1) is, if there is no published market price in respect of the instrument or asset, to be construed as referring to the fair value (as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) of the instrument or asset.

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

- A licensed corporation must, for the purposes of calculating its liquid capital and required liquid capital, value at market value any open position in an instrument or asset referred to in subsection (1).
- Despite subsection (2) or (3), for the purposes of calculating the liquid capital and required liquid capital of a licensed corporation, any reference in these Rules to the market value of the securities referred to in subsection (5), (6) or (7) is to be construed as referring to the value (including any nil value) at which the securities are required to be valued under subsection (5), (6) or (7).
- Listed securities that have been suspended from trading for at least 3 trading days or ceased trading on any exchange on which the securities were listed must, unless the securities can continue to be traded on any other exchange on which the securities are listed, be valued
 - for long positions—at nil; or
 - for short positions—at the higher of fair value and the last closing price before the suspension or cessation of trading.
- Marketable debt securities, in respect of which there is no published market price, must be valued—

the issuer; or

37

- for certificates of deposit-at the value quoted by
- (b) for debt securities other than certificates of deposit—
 - (i) at the average value of quotations obtained from any combination of 2 or more of the following persons who customarily deal in the debt securities—
 - (A) market makers;
 - (B) banks;
 - (C) securities dealers outside Hong Kong;
 - (D) licensed corporations; or
 - (ii) if the quotations referred to in subparagraph(i) cannot be obtained—at fair value.
- (7) Debt securities that are not marketable debt securities must be valued—
 - (a) for long positions—at nil; or
 - (b) for short positions—at the higher of fair value and the face value of the debt securities.".

9. Section 11 amended (no set-off)

(1) Section 11(1)—

Repeal

"(5) and (6)"

Substitute

"(5), (6) and (7)".

(2) Section 11(1), English text---

Repeal

38

"shall" (wherever appearing)

Substitute

"must".

Section 11(3), English text—

Repeal

everything after "licensed corporation from" and before "person, where"

Substitute

"a person, and any amounts payable by it to the".

(4) Section 11(3)—

Repeal paragraph (a)

Substitute

- "(a) such amounts-
 - (i) do not arise from the carrying on of any regulated activity for which it is licensed; and
 - (ii) do not include—
 - (A) amounts receivable by it from, and amounts payable by it to, a general clearing participant of HKSCC which arise from transactions in securities that are cleared for it or its clients by the participant with HKSCC;
 - (B) if the licensed corporation is a general clearing participant of HKSCC—amounts receivable by it from the person, and amounts payable by it to the person, which arise from transactions in securities that are cleared for the person by it with HKSCC; or
 - (C) amounts receivable referred to in section 23(1)(f); and".

(5) After section 11(6)—

Add

"(7) If a licensed corporation has obtained an approval under section 58(5)(i), subsection (1) does not apply in respect of amounts receivable (except amounts receivable referred to in section 23(1)(f)) by it from, and amounts payable by it to, a general clearing participant of HKSCC which arise from transactions in securities that are cleared for it or its clients by the participant with HKSCC."

10. Section 12 amended (transactions in margined accounts)

(1) Section 12(1), (3) and (4), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 12(6)(b)(iii)—

Repeal

"options contracts"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts".

11. Section 18 amended (exclusions from liquid assets)

(1) Section 18, heading—

Repeal

"Exclusions from liquid assets"

Substitute

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 12

40

"Exclusion of branch assets required to be maintained outside Hong Kong".

(2) Section 18(1), English text-

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(3) Section 18—

Repeal subsection (2).

12. Section 18A added

After section 18—

Add

"18A. Exclusion of assets where remittance or exchange controls apply

- Except in the circumstances referred to in subsections
 and (3), a licensed corporation must not include a controlled asset in its liquid assets.
- (2) A licensed corporation must include a controlled asset in its liquid assets (in an amount calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Division which apply to it in relation to the controlled asset) if, in relation to the relevant prohibition applicable to the controlled asset or the proceeds of the controlled asset, it reasonably believes that it will be able to obtain the required approval from the relevant authority or regulatory organization within 1 week after applying for the approval.

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

- (3) Subject to subsection (4), a licensed corporation may elect to include in its liquid assets a controlled asset (other than a controlled asset referred to in subsection (2)) that it is able to freely apply to meet its existing obligations or liabilities that are denominated in the same currency as the asset.
- (4) If a licensed corporation makes an election under subsection (3) in relation to a controlled asset, the amount to be included in its liquid assets in respect of the controlled asset is to be calculated—
 - (a) in accordance with the provisions of this Division which apply to it in relation to the controlled asset;
 and
 - (b) on the basis that sections 27(2), (3), (4), (6) and (7) and 31(2) and (3) do not apply to it in relation to the controlled asset.".

13. Section 19 amended (assets provided to others as security)

Section 19(2)(d)—

Repeal

"options contracts"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts".

14. Section 20 amended (cash in hand and at bank)

(1) Section 20, English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 20(b), after "and holds in"—

Add

"an account in".

(3) Section 20(b)(ii)—

Repeal

"and".

(4) Section 20(c)—

Repeal the full stop

Substitute

"; and".

(5) After section 20(c)—

Add

"(d) money which it holds on behalf of a client in an account in its name, or in a segregated account, with an authorized financial institution or an approved bank incorporated outside Hong Kong, and which it has received from the client for the purposes of settling a purchase of, or subscription for, securities by it on behalf of the client."

15. Section 21 amended (amounts receivable from clients in respect of purchase of and subscription for securities)

(1) Section 21—

Repeal subsection (1)

Substitute

"(1) Subject to subsections (3) and (7), a licensed corporation must include in its liquid assets the following amounts arising from the purchase by any of its clients of securities on a cash-against-delivery basis—

- (a) any amount receivable from the client which, when calculated on a transaction-by-transaction basis, is not yet due for settlement according to the settlement date or has been outstanding for 5 business days or less after the settlement date;
- (b) in respect of any amount receivable from the client which, when calculated on a transaction-by-transaction basis, has been outstanding for more than 5 business days but less than 1 month after the settlement date—the amount which, when calculated on a transaction-by-transaction basis, is the lower of—
 - (i) the amount receivable less any specific provision for bad or doubtful debts made in respect of the amount receivable; and
 - (ii) the market value of the securities to which the amount receivable relates.".

(2) Section 21(2)—

Repeal

everything after "licensed corporation may" and before "to set-off"

Substitute

", subject to subsection (2A), elect".

(3) Section 21(2), English text—

Repeal

"basis, and"

Substitute

"basis, if".

(4) After section 21(2)—

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 15

44

Add

- "(2A) An election made by a licensed corporation under subsection (2) must be in respect of all of its clients from whom it has obtained a written authorization referred to in that subsection."
- (5) Section 21(3), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(6) Section 21—

Repeal subsection (4)

Substitute

- "(4) Subject to subsection (7), a licensed corporation must include in its liquid assets any amount receivable from any of its clients arising from the purchase by the client of securities on a free delivery basis which, when calculated on a transaction-by-transaction basis—
 - (a) in the case where the clearing system of the exchange on which the securities are traded effects settlement only on a free delivery basis—
 - (i) is not yet due for settlement according to the settlement date; or
 - (ii) has been outstanding for 2 weeks or less after the settlement date; or
 - (b) in any other case—is not yet due for settlement according to the settlement date.".
- (7) Section 21(5), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(8) Section 21(5)(b), English text—

Repeal

"the amount receivable"

Substitute

"any amount receivable".

(9) Section 21(6), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(10) Section 21(6), English text—

Repeal

"the amount receivable"

Substitute

"any amount receivable".

(11) Section 21(7), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(12) Section 21(8)—

Repeal

"subsection (2),"

Substitute

"subsections (2) and (2A),".

16. Section 22 amended (amounts receivable in respect of providing securities margin financing)

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

(1) Section 22(1), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 22(2), English text—

Repeal

"shall apply"

Substitute

"applies".

(3) Section 22(3), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(4) Section 22(4)(c)—

Repeal

"listed for"

Substitute

"listed on a particular exchange for".

5) Section 22(4)(c)—

Repeal

"trading)"

Substitute

"trading on the exchange)".

(6) Section 22(4)(d)(ii)—

Repeal

"Hang Seng Hong Kong"

Substitute

"Hang Seng Composite".

(7) Section 22(4)(d)—

Repeal subparagraphs (iii), (iv) and (v)

Substitute

- "(iii) FTSE 100 Index;
- (iv) Nikkei Stock Average; or
- (v) S&P 500 Index.".
- (8) Section 22(4)(d)—

Repeal subparagraph (vi).

(9) Section 22(5), definition of average monthly turnover—

Repeal

"any exchange"

Substitute

"a particular exchange".

(10) Section 22(5), definition of average monthly turnover—

Repeal

"trading)"

Substitute

"trading on the exchange)".

17. Section 23 amended (amounts receivable from counterparties in respect of dealings in securities)

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

(1) Section 23, heading—

Repeal

Section 17

everything after "from"

Substitute

"other dealers and clearing participants etc. in respect of securities".

(2) Section 23—

Repeal subsection (1)

Substitute

- "(1) Subject to subsection (2), a licensed corporation must include in its liquid assets the following amounts—
 - (a) any amount receivable from any securities dealer which—
 - (i) arises from the sale of securities by it to or through the securities dealer on a cashagainst-delivery basis; and
 - (ii) when calculated on a transaction-bytransaction basis—
 - (A) is not yet due for settlement according to the settlement date; or
 - (B) has been outstanding for 2 weeks or less after the settlement date:
 - (b) in respect of any amount receivable from any securities dealer which arises from the sale of securities by it to or through the securities dealer on a cash-against-delivery basis, and which, when calculated on a transaction-by-transaction basis,

Section 17

has been outstanding for more than 2 weeks but less than 1 month after the settlement date—the amount which, when calculated on a transaction-by-transaction basis, is the lower of—

49

- (i) the amount receivable less any specific provision for bad or doubtful debts made in respect of the amount receivable; and
- (ii) the market value of the securities to which the amount receivable relates;
- (c) any amount receivable from any securities dealer which—
 - arises from the sale of securities by it to or through the securities dealer on a free delivery basis; and
 - (ii) when calculated on a transaction-bytransaction basis—
 - (A) in the case where the clearing system of the exchange on which the securities are traded effects settlement only on a free delivery basis—
 - (I) is not yet due for settlement according to the settlement date; or
 - (II) has been outstanding for 2 weeks or less after the settlement date; or
 - (B) in any other case—is not yet due for settlement according to the settlement date;
- (d) any amount receivable from a general clearing participant of HKSCC which—

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 17

50

- (i) arises from a transaction in securities that is cleared for it or its clients by the participant with HKSCC and is to be settled on a cashagainst-delivery basis; and
- (ii) when calculated on a transaction-bytransaction basis, is not yet due for settlement according to the settlement date;
- (e) if it is a general clearing participant of HKSCC—any amount receivable from a person which—
 - arises from a transaction in securities that is cleared for the person by it with HKSCC and is to be settled on a cash-against-delivery basis; and
 - (ii) when calculated on a transaction-bytransaction basis, is not yet due for settlement according to the settlement date;
- (f) any amount receivable from a China Connect General Clearing Participant which—
 - (i) arises from transactions in China Connect Securities on a China Connect Market that have been or are to be cleared for it or its clients by the participant; and
 - (ii) is receivable in respect of amounts paid by it to the participant for the purposes of fulfilling the participant's obligation to provide to HKSCC amounts of Mainland Settlement Deposit or Mainland Security Deposit in accordance with the rules of HKSCC.".
- (3) Section 23(2)—

Repeal

everything after "under subsection (1)" and before "referred to in"

Substitute

"must not exceed the aggregate of amounts receivable from the persons".

(4) After section 23(2)—

Add

"(3) In this section—

- China Connect General Clearing Participant (中華通全面結算所參與者) means a general clearing participant of HKSCC that is registered by HKSCC as a "China Connect Clearing Participant" in accordance with the rules of HKSCC;
- China Connect Market (中華通市場) means a stock market that is determined by the Stock Exchange Company to be a "China Connect Market" in accordance with the rules of the Stock Exchange Company;
- China Connect Securities (中華通證券) means securities that are determined by the Stock Exchange Company to be "China Connect Securities" in accordance with the rules of the Stock Exchange Company;
- Mainland Security Deposit (內地結算備付金) means an amount that is determined by HKSCC to be "Mainland Security Deposit" in accordance with the rules of HKSCC;
- Mainland Settlement Deposit (內地證券結算保證金) means an amount that is determined by HKSCC to be "Mainland Settlement Deposit" in accordance with the rules of HKSCC.".

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 18

52

18. Section 28 amended (amounts receivable from clearing houses, etc.)

(1) Section 28(1), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 28(1)(e)—

Repeal

"maintained".

(3) Section 28—

Repeal subsections (2) and (3)

Substitute

- "(2) A licensed corporation must include in its liquid assets amounts receivable from, and cash deposited with, a prescribed clearing house (except admission fees it has paid to the prescribed clearing house, and cash it has deposited with the prescribed clearing house as security against its general obligations), in respect of—
 - (a) any dealing or trading by it in, or its entering into—
 - (i) a futures contract;
 - (ii) any securities;
 - (iii) an options contract;
 - (iv) a derivative contract;
 - (v) a specified investment;
 - (vi) a leveraged foreign exchange contract;
 - (vii) a foreign exchange agreement; or

(viii) an interest rate swap agreement; or

- (b) any clearing by it with the prescribed clearing house (whether for its own account or on behalf of its clients) of a transaction in—
 - (i) a futures contract;
 - (ii) any securities;
 - (iii) an options contract;
 - (iv) a derivative contract;
 - (v) a specified investment;
 - (vi) a leveraged foreign exchange contract;
 - (vii) a foreign exchange agreement; or
 - (viii) an interest rate swap agreement.
- (3) A licensed corporation must include in its liquid assets amounts receivable from, and cash deposited with, a futures or options clearing house other than a recognized clearing house (except admission fees it has paid to the futures or options clearing house, and cash it has deposited with the futures or options clearing house as security against its general obligations), in respect of—
 - (a) any dealing by it in futures contracts or unlisted options contracts;
 - (b) any trading by it in leveraged foreign exchange contracts; or
 - (c) any clearing by it with the futures or options clearing house (whether for its own account or on behalf of its clients) of a transaction in a futures contract, unlisted options contract or leveraged foreign exchange contract.
- (4) In this section—

prescribed clearing house (訂明結算所) means—

54

- (a) Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.;
- (b) Euroclear France S.A.;
- (c) Clearstream Banking S.A.;
- (d) Clearstream Banking AG; or
- (e) Korea Securities Finance Corporation.".

19. Sections 29 and 30 substituted

Sections 29 and 30-

Section 19

Repeal the sections

Substitute

- "29. Amounts receivable from other dealers and clearing participants in respect of futures contracts, unlisted options contracts and leveraged foreign exchange contracts
 - (1) Subject to subsection (2), a licensed corporation must include in its liquid assets amounts receivable from, and cash deposited with, a licensed corporation licensed for Type 1 or Type 2 regulated activity (*dealer*) or a clearing participant of a futures or options clearing house (*participant*), in respect of—
 - (a) any dealing by it in futures contracts or unlisted options contracts;
 - (b) any trading by it in leveraged foreign exchange contracts; or
 - (c) any clearing by the dealer or the participant for it (whether for its own account or on behalf of its clients) of a transaction in a futures contract,

unlisted options contract or leveraged foreign exchange contract.

- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply to—
 - (a) admission fees the licensed corporation has paid to the dealer or the participant; and
 - (b) cash the licensed corporation has deposited with the dealer or the participant as security against its general obligations.

30. Amounts receivable from clients in respect of purchase of exchange-traded unlisted options contracts

A licensed corporation must include in its liquid assets any amount receivable from any of its clients arising from the purchase of any unlisted options contract traded on a specified exchange which, when calculated on a transaction-by-transaction basis—

- (a) is not yet due for settlement according to the settlement date; or
- (b) has been outstanding for 5 business days or less after the settlement date.".

20. Section 31 amended (exchange-traded options contracts trading for own account)

(1) Section 31, heading, after "Exchange-traded"—

Add

"unlisted".

(2) Section 31(1)—

Repeal

everything after "own account any" and before "include in its" **Substitute**

"unlisted options contract traded on a specified exchange, it must".

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

(3) Section 31(1)(a)—

Repeal

"options contract has"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract has".

(4) Section 31(1)(a)(ii)—

Repeal

"options contract,"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract,".

(5) Section 31(1)(b)—

Repeal

"options contract."

Substitute

"unlisted options contract.".

(6) Section 31(2) and (3), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

21. Section 35 amended (miscellaneous assets)

(1) Section 35, English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) After section 35(a)—

Add

- "(ab) if fees receivable by it in respect of its underwriting of an issue or a sale of securities (*underwriting fees*) do not fall within paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) and, in respect of the issue or sale it has entered into one or more sub-underwriting agreements under which it is obliged to pay fees to the sub-underwriters—the amount of the underwriting fees—
 - (i) but only up to the total amount of the fees which it is obliged to pay to the sub-underwriters; and
 - (ii) only if the fees which it is obliged to pay to the sub-underwriters will not fall due for payment until on or after the day on which it receives the underwriting fees;".
- (3) Section 35(b), English text—

Repeal

"maintained"

Substitute

"maintains".

22. Section 36A added

After section 36—

Add

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

"36A. Controlled assets where election made under section 18A(3)

If a licensed corporation makes an election under section 18A(3) to include a controlled asset in its liquid assets, the amount to be included in its ranking liabilities in respect of the controlled asset is to be calculated—

 (a) in accordance with the provisions of this Division which apply to it in relation to the controlled asset;

58

(b) on the basis that sections 40(7) and (8) and 43(6) do not apply to it in relation to the controlled asset.".

23. Section 37 amended (amounts payable to clients, etc.)

(1) Section 37, English text—

Repeal

Section 23

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 37—

Repeal paragraph (a)

Substitute

- "(a) an amount payable to any of its clients in respect of client money held by it—
 - (i) in a segregated account with an authorized financial institution, an approved bank incorporated outside Hong Kong or a recognized clearing house (except money included in its liquid assets under section 20(d)); or
 - (ii) in a segregated account—

- (A) that is referred to in paragraph (a) of the definition of segregated account in section 2(1); and
- (B) with a person approved by the Commission under section 4(2) of the Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules (Cap. 571 sub. leg. I) for the purposes of those Rules; and".

24. Section 40 amended (futures contracts and options contracts dealing, etc.)

(1) Section 40, heading—

Repeal

"options contracts dealing,"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts dealing".

(2) Section 40(1), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(3) Section 40(1)(b) and (c)—

Repeal

"options contract"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract".

(4) Section 40(2)—

Repeal

"options" (wherever appearing)

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 24

60

Substitute

"unlisted options".

(5) Section 40(3), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(6) Section 40(3)—

Repeal

"options" (wherever appearing)

Substitute

"unlisted options".

(7) Section 40(4), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(8) Section 40(4)(b)—

Repeal

"options contract"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract".

9) Section 40(5), (6), (7), (8) and (9), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

Section 24

61

"must".

(10) Section 40(11)—

Repeal

everything after "A licensed corporation" and before "options contract)"

Substitute

"must include in its ranking liabilities, in respect of any unlisted options contract (other than a put unlisted".

(11) Section 40(11)(a) and (b)—

Repeal

"options contract;"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract;".

(12) Section 40(12)—

Repeal

everything after "A licensed corporation" and before "options contract,"

Substitute

"must include in its ranking liabilities, in respect of any put unlisted options contract which is written by it for its own account and traded other than on a specified exchange or not exchange traded, an amount, not exceeding the value of the assets underlying the unlisted options contract stated at the strike price of the unlisted".

(13) Section 40(12)(a) and (b)—

Repeal

"options contract;"

Substitute

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

62

Section 25

"unlisted options contract;".

25. Section 43 amended (short positions in securities (other than options contracts) and specified investments)

(1) Section 43, heading—

Repeal

everything after "than"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts) and investments".

(2) Section 43(1)—

Repeal

everything after "securities (other than"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts), specified investments, illiquid investments or miscellaneous investments, whether by short selling or otherwise, must include in its ranking liabilities the market value of those securities or investments."

(3) Section 43(2)(d)—

Repeal

"or".

(4) Section 43(2)(e)—

Repeal the comma

Substitute a semicolon.

(5) After section 43(2)(e)—

Add

- "(f) illiquid investments; or
- (g) miscellaneous investments,".

(6) Section 43(2), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(7) Section 43(3)—

Repeal

everything after "or otherwise, which"

Substitute

"constitute more than 5% by market value of all securities of the same description issued by a particular corporation, must increase the amount required to be included in its ranking liabilities under subsection (1) by the market value of the securities."

(8) Section 43(5), (6), (8), (9) and (10), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

26. Section 47 amended (net underwriting commitments)

(1) Section 47(1), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 47(1)—

Repeal paragraph (a)

Substitute

"(a) for a rights issue where the market price of the securities is less than or equal to their subscription price, the lower of—

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

- (i) the aggregate of—
 - (A) 50% of the haircut percentage in relation to the securities multiplied by the net underwriting commitment; and
 - (B) the amount by which the net underwriting commitment exceeds the market value of the securities; and
- (ii) the net underwriting commitment;
- (ab) for a rights issue where the market price of the securities is greater than their subscription price, 5% of the haircut percentage in relation to the securities multiplied by the net underwriting commitment; or".

27. Section 51 amended (introduction of transactions)

(1) Section 51(1)(b)—

Repeal

"options contract"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract".

(2) Section 51(1), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

(3) Section 51(1)(g)—

Repeal

"options contract" (wherever appearing)

Substitute

"unlisted options contract".

28. Section 51A added

After section 51—

Add

"51A. Foreign currency positions

- (1) Subject to subsections (2) and (3), a licensed corporation must include in its ranking liabilities 5% of its net position in each foreign currency.
- (2) In calculating the net position in a foreign currency, a licensed corporation may elect to exclude from the calculation the value of any asset which is denominated in that foreign currency and not included in its liquid assets under any provision in Division 3.
- (3) If, in relation to a non-freely floating foreign currency, a licensed corporation has positions in the currency which are attributable to both the onshore and offshore markets in the currency, the licensed corporation must include in its ranking liabilities—
 - (a) if its onshore net position in the currency and its offshore net position in the currency are both long positions or are both short positions—5% of the aggregate of the onshore net position and the offshore net position; or
 - (b) if paragraph (a) does not apply to it in relation to the currency—

(i) 1.5% of the lower of its onshore net position in the currency and its offshore net position in the currency; and

66

(ii) 5% of the difference between its onshore net position in the currency and its offshore net position in the currency.

(4) In this section—

Section 28

net position (淨持倉量), in relation to a licensed corporation's position in a foreign currency, means the difference between—

- (a) the aggregate of—
 - the value of assets, other than fixed assets, beneficially owned by the licensed corporation which are denominated in the foreign currency; and
 - (ii) the total amount of the foreign currency in respect of which the licensed corporation is exposed to the risk of a decline in the value of the foreign currency under outstanding contracts (including spot contracts); and
- (b) the aggregate of—
 - (i) all of the licensed corporation's on-balance sheet liabilities, other than excluded liabilities, which are denominated in the foreign currency; and
 - (ii) the total amount of the foreign currency in respect of which the licensed corporation is exposed to the risk of a rise in the value of the foreign currency under outstanding contracts (including spot contracts);

- (a) the rate at which the currency is permitted by the authority to be converted into one or more other currencies; or
- (b) a range of rates within which the currency is permitted by the authority to be converted into one or more other currencies;
- offshore net position (境外淨持倉量), in relation to a licensed corporation's net position in a non-freely floating foreign currency, means its net position in the currency which is attributable to the offshore market in the currency;
- onshore net position (境內淨持倉量), in relation to a licensed corporation's net position in a non-freely floating foreign currency, means its net position in the currency which is attributable to the onshore market in the currency.".

29. Section 52 amended (miscellaneous)

(1) Section 52(1), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 52(1)—

Repeal paragraph (d)

Substitute

Section 30

"(d) if it has made one or more elections under section 18A(3) in relation to one or more controlled assets denominated in a particular currency, the amount (if it exceeds zero) calculated in accordance with the following formula—

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

A - L

where-

- "A" is the aggregate of the amounts that it is required to include in its liquid assets in respect of the controlled assets denominated in the currency; and
- "L" is the aggregate of the amounts of its existing obligations or liabilities denominated in the currency (which the controlled assets may be freely applied to meet) that it is required (apart from by this paragraph) to include in its ranking liabilities; and".
- (3) Section 52—

Repeal subsections (2) and (3).

30. Section 53 amended (other liabilities)

(1) Section 53(1)—

Repeal

"subsection (2),"

Substitute

"subsections (1A) and (2),".

(2) Section 53(1), English text-

Repeal

"shall"

_

Substitute

"must".

(3) After section 53(1)—

Add

- "(1A) In relation to any liabilities of a licensed corporation which arise from a tenancy agreement entered into by it in respect of any premises which it uses in carrying on the regulated activity for which it is licensed, subsection (1) only applies to any amount by which its on-balance sheet liabilities arising from the tenancy agreement exceeds the total value of its assets arising from the tenancy agreement which are not included in its liquid assets under any provision in Division 3.".
- (4) Section 53(2), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

- 31. Section 55 amended (licensed corporations to notify Commission of circumstances relating to financial resources and trading activities and to submit returns in certain cases)
 - (1) Section 55(1), (2) and (3), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 55(4)(a)—

Repeal

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 32

"options contract"

Substitute

"unlisted options contract".

(3) Section 55(4), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(4) Section 55(5), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

32. Section 56 amended (licensed corporations to submit returns to Commission)

(1) Section 56(1), (2) and (3), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 56(4), English text—

Repeal

"shall be"

Substitute

"is".

(3) Section 56(5) and (6)(a) and (b), English text—

70

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

33. Section 58 amended (approvals)

(1) Section 58(2), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(2) Section 58(2)(b)—

Repeal

"Moody's Investors Service or Standard & Poor's Corporation."

Substitute

"Moody's Investors Service, Standard & Poor's Corporation or Fitch Ratings.".

(3) Section 58(3), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

(4) Section 58(4)(a)(ii)(A) and (B)(I) and (II)—

Repeal

"options contracts"

Substitute

"unlisted options contracts".

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

(5) Section 58(5)(f)—

Repeal

"and".

(6) Section 58(5)(g)—

Repeal the full stop

Substitute a semicolon.

(7) After section 58(5)(g)—

Add

- "(h) the calculation of the haircut percentage applicable to an underlying basket of securities as the weighted average of the haircut percentages applicable to each of the securities which constitute the basket—
 - (i) for special debt securities which fall within the description set out in item 1(b)(iii) or 2(a)(ii) in column 2 of Table 6 in Schedule 2; or
 - (ii) for specified securities which fall within the description set out in item 2(b) or 3(a)(vii) in column 2 of Table 7 in Schedule 2; and
- (i) for the purposes of section 11(7), the setting-off by the licensed corporation of amounts receivable (except amounts receivable referred to in section 23(1)(f)) by it from, and amounts payable by it to, a general clearing participant of HKSCC which arise from transactions in securities that are cleared for it or its clients by the participant with HKSCC."
- (8) Section 58(6), English text—

Repeal

"shall be"

Substitute

"is".

(9) Section 58(8), English text—

Repeal

"shall"

Substitute

"must".

34. Section 59 amended (withdrawal of elections made under these Rules)

Section 59, English text—

Repeal

"shall be"

Substitute

"is".

35. Schedule 2 amended (haircut percentages)

(1) Schedule 2—

Repeal

"2 & 43]"

Substitute

"2, 2C, 2E & 58]".

(2) Schedule 2-

Repeal Tables 1 and 1A

Substitute

"Table 1 Haircut Percentages for Listed Shares

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Column 1		Column 2	Column 3
Item		Description	Haircut percentage %
1.	calco amo 22(1 liste	ept for the purpose of ulating the haircut unt under section (b)(i), shares which are d on a recognized stock set—	
	(a)	being a constituent of the Hang Seng Index	15
	(b)	not being a constituent of the Hang Seng Index but being a constituent of the Hang Seng Composite LargeCap Index	20
	(c)	not being a constituent of the Hang Seng Index or the Hang Seng Composite LargeCap Index	30
2.	spec	res which are listed on a cified exchange in the ted Kingdom—	
	(a)	other than shares which	

Section 35

	_			75
Column 1			Column 2	Column 3
Item		I	Description	Haircut percentage %
		Stoc	isted on London k Exchange plc – .Q—	
		(i)	being a constituent of the FTSE 100 Index	15
		(ii)	not being a constituent of the FTSE 100 Index	20
	(b)	liste	g shares which are d on London Stock hange plc – SEAQ	30
3.	spec	ified	nich are listed on a exchange in the ates of America—	
	(a)	are in NAS	er than shares which listed on the SDAQ Stock Market C – NASDAQ bal Market or the SDAQ Stock Market C – NASDAQ bal Select Market—	
		(i)	being a constituent of the S&P 500 Index	15
		(ii)	not being a	20

Column 1			Column 2	Column 3	
Item		Ì	Description	Haircut percenta	age
			constituent of the S&P 500 Index		
4.	spec	liste Stoc NAS Mar Stoc NAS Mar eres wheified	g shares which are d on the NASDAQ k Market LLC – SDAQ Global ket or the NASDAQ k Market LLC – SDAQ Global Select ket nich are listed on a exchange in	30	
	Japa (a)	are Stoo	er than shares which listed on the Tokyo ek Exchange, Inc. – DAQ—		
		(i)	being a constituent of the Nikkei Stock Average	15	
		(ii)	not being a constituent of the Nikkei Stock Average	20	
	(b)	liste	ng shares which are ed on the Tokyo ck Exchange, Inc. —	30	

Section 35			
	Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
	Item	Description	Haircut percentage
		JASDAQ	
	5.	Shares which are listed on a specified exchange specified in Part 1 of Schedule 3, other than an exchange in the United Kingdom, the United	

- (a) being a constituent of the Euro Stoxx 50 Index
 (b) not being a constituent of the Euro Stoxx 50
- 6. Shares which are listed on a specified exchange specified

States of America or Japan-

- in Part 2 of Schedule 3
 7. Shares which are listed on a stock exchange (other than an exchange referred to in item
 - exchange referred to in item 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 or 6) which is a member of the World Federation of Exchanges
- 8. Shares which are listed on a referred to in item 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 or 7

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 35

Table 1A

78

Haircut Percentages for Shares Listed in Hong Kong for Purpose of Calculating Haircut Amount under Section 22(1)(b)(i)

Column 1		Column 2	Column 3
Item		Description	Haircut percentage %
1.	the l secti which	the purpose of calculating naircut amount under ion 22(1)(b)(i), shares ch are listed on a gnized stock market—	
	(a)	being a constituent of the Hang Seng Index	15
	(b)	not being a constituent of the Hang Seng Index but being a constituent of the Hang Seng Composite LargeCap Index	20
	(c)	not being a constituent of the Hang Seng Index or the Hang Seng Composite LargeCap Index but being a constituent of the MSCI Hong Kong Index or the MSCI China Index	30
	(d)	not being a constituent	30

(3)

Schedule 2, Table 4—

Repeal

79

Column 1 Item	1	Column 2 Description	Column 3 Haircut percentage %
	the I Con Inde Kon MSO bein the I	he Hang Seng Index, Hang Seng hposite LargeCap ex, the MSCI Hong g Index or the CI China Index but ng a constituent of Hang Seng hposite Index	
(6	of a	being a constituent n index referred to aragraph (a), (b), (c) d)—	
	(i)	for a licensed corporation which does not repledge securities collateral	30
	(ii)	for a licensed corporation which repledges securities collateral	60".
Schedule 2—			
Repeal Table	es 2 and	3.	

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 35

Description

Haircut Percentage %"

80

Substitute

"Tier

"Column 1 Column 2 Tier

Column 3

Description

Haircut percentage %".

(5) Schedule 2, Table 4, Tier 1(d)(i)—

Repeal

"; or"

Substitute a semicolon.

Schedule 2, Table 4, Tier 1(d)(ii), after "at AAA or A-1"—

Add

"; or".

Schedule 2, Table 4, after Tier 1(d)(ii)—

Add

"(iii) Fitch Ratings at AAA or F1".

(8) Schedule 2, Table 4, Tier 3(a)(i)—

Repeal

"; or"

Substitute a semicolon.

Schedule 2, Table 4, Tier 3(a)(ii), after "at AA, A or A-2;"—

Add

"or".

Schedule 2, Table 4, after Tier 3(a)(ii)—

Add

- "(iii) Fitch Ratings at AA, A or F2; or".
- (11) Schedule 2, Table 4, Tier 3(b)—

Repeal

"; or".

(12) Schedule 2, Table 4, Tier 3—

Repeal paragraph (c).

(13) Schedule 2, Table 4, Tier 4(a)—

Repeal

"; or"

Substitute a semicolon.

(14) Schedule 2, Table 4, Tier 4(b), after "at BBB or A-3"—

Add

"; or".

(15) Schedule 2, Table 4, after Tier 4(b)—

Add

"(c) Fitch Ratings at BBB or F3".

(16) Schedule 2—

Repeal Tables 5, 6, 7 and 8

Substitute

"Table 5

Haircut Percentages for Qualifying Debt Securities, by Remaining Term to Maturity

Notes:

1. In this Table—

category 1 qualifying debt securities (第 1 類合資格債務證券) means qualifying debt securities having a fixed rate coupon or a floating rate coupon, except

qualifying debt securities having no maturity date or a remaining term to maturity exceeding 30 years;

category 2 qualifying debt securities (第 2 類合資格債務證券) means qualifying debt securities that do not fall within category 1 qualifying debt securities.

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

- 2. In this Table, qualifying debt securities are regarded as having a fixed rate coupon if interest—
 - (a) is payable periodically throughout the term of the securities; and
 - (b) is calculated by reference to a predetermined fixed interest rate that does not change during the term of the securities.
- 3. In this Table, qualifying debt securities are regarded as having a floating rate coupon if interest—
 - (a) is payable periodically throughout the term of the securities; and
 - (b) is calculated by reference to a variable interest rate that is reset periodically to equate to the level of a money market or interbank reference interest rate that is widely quoted and is predetermined to apply throughout the term of the securities, plus or minus a predetermined specified rate (if any) that does not change during the term of the securities.

	Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
		Category 1 qualifying debt securities	Category 2 qualifying debt securities
	Remaining term to maturity	Haircut percentage %	Haircut percentage %
(a)	Less than 6 months	1	1
(b)	6 months to less than 3 years	3	3
(c)	3 years to less than 5 years	4	5
(d)	5 years to less than 10 years	7	10
(e)	10 years or more, or infinite	10	22

Table 6 Haircut Percentages for Special Debt Securities

Notes:

- 1. In this Table, the following terms have the meaning given by section 2F(2)—
 - (a) permitted interest rate (許可利率);
 - (b) permitted securities (許可證券);
 - (c) permitted underlying asset (許可相關資產);

Section 35 84

- (d) *permitted underlying type of rate or index* (屬許可類別的相關比率或指數);
- (e) tradable commodity index (流通商品指數);
- (f) tradable currency exchange rate index (流通 貨幣匯率指數);
- (g) tradable securities index (流通證券指數).
- 2. In this Table
 - category 1 special debt securities (第 1 類特別債務證券) means special debt securities having a fixed rate coupon or a floating rate coupon, except special debt securities having no maturity date or a remaining term to maturity exceeding 30 years;
 - category 2 special debt securities (第 2 類特別債務證券) means special debt securities that do not fall within category 1 special debt securities.
- 3. For the purposes of the definition of *category 1 special debt securities* in Note 2, special debt securities are regarded as having—
 - (a) a fixed rate coupon if interest—
 - (i) is payable periodically throughout the term of the securities; and
 - (ii) is calculated by reference to a predetermined fixed interest rate that does not change during the term of the securities; or
 - (b) a floating rate coupon if interest-
 - (i) is payable periodically throughout the term of the securities; and

Section 35

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 35

(ii) is calculated by reference to a variable interest rate that is reset periodically to equate to the level of a money market or interbank reference interest rate that is widely quoted and is predetermined to apply throughout the term of the securities, plus or minus a predetermined specified rate (if any) that does not change during the term of the securities.

4. In this Table—

P, in relation to special debt securities referred to in item 1(b)(i), 2(b) or 3 of this Table, means the percentage calculated in accordance with the following formula—

$$P = A + B$$

where—

- "A" is the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 4 opposite a description set out in Tier 1, 3 or 4 in column 2 of Table 4 of an issuer or guarantor of qualifying debt securities, being a description which is applicable to—
 - (a) for special debt securities referred to in item 1(b)(i) of this Table—the rating given by Moody's Investors Service, Standard & Poor's Corporation or Fitch Ratings to the applicable jurisdiction referred to in the definition of *permitted* interest rate in section 2F(2); or

(b) for special debt securities referred to in item 2(b) or 3 of this Table—the issuer or guarantor of the special debt securities; and

86

"B" is-

- (a) for special debt securities referred to in item 1(b)(i) of this Table—the percentage specified in column 2 of Table 5 opposite the description of a remaining term to maturity of qualifying debt securities set out in column 1 of Table 5 which would, if the description was of the tenor of an interest rate, apply to the permitted interest rate underlying the special debt securities:
- (b) for special debt securities referred to in item 2(b) of this Table—the percentage specified in the following column of Table 5 opposite the description of a remaining term to maturity of qualifying debt securities set out in column 1 of Table 5 which would, if the description was of the remaining term to maturity of special debt securities, apply to the remaining term to maturity of the special debt securities—
 - (i) if the special debt securities are category 1 special debt securities—column 2; or
 - (ii) if the special debt securities are category 2 special debt securities—column 3; or

(c) for special debt securities referred to in item 3 of this Table—the percentage specified in column 3 of Table 5 opposite the description of a remaining term to maturity of qualifying debt securities set out in column 1 of Table 5 which would, if the description was of the remaining term to maturity of special debt securities, apply to the remaining term to maturity of the special debt securities.

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3

Item Description Haircut percentage

- 1. Special debt securities being a structured note, where—
 - (a) the permitted underlying asset is—
 - (i) permitted the percentage applicable to the permitted securities
 - (ii) a tradable 40% commodity
 - (b) the permitted underlying type of rate or index is a single type of—
 - (i) permitted interest rate

P

(ii) currency 5% exchange rate or

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 35				88
	Column 1	(Column 2	Column 3
	Item	Γ	Description	Haircut percentage
			tradable currency exchange rate index	
		(iii)	tradable securities index	the highest of the haircut percentages applicable to each of the permitted securities which constitute the basket underlying the index, or the weighted average percentage applicable to the basket as calculated in accordance with an approval granted under section 58(5)(h)(i)
		(iv)	tradable commodity index	40%
	2.	specified	ebt securities being convertible debt or a specified ere—	
		mor	market value is te than the par te or nominal	

_					
	Column 1 Item		Ι	Column 2 Description e, where—	Column 3 Haircut percentage
			(i)	the underlying asset is shares	the percentage applicable to the underlying shares
			(ii)	the underlying asset is a basket of shares	the highest of the haircut percentages applicable to each of the shares which constitute the basket, or the weighted average percentage applicable to the basket as calculated in accordance with an approval granted under section 58(5)(h)(i)
		(b)	equathe j	market value is al to, or less than, par value or iinal value	P
	3.	_		ebt securities being est bearing debt	105% of P

securities

Table 7 Haircut Percentages for Specified Securities

Column 1		Column 2	Column 3
Item		Description	Haircut percentage
I,		rants listed on a ified exchange	100%
2.	•	ity-linked instruments, re—	
	(a)	the underlying asset is an equity	the percentage applicable to the underlying equity
	(b)	the underlying asset is a basket of equities, or the underlying index is calculated by reference to a basket of equities	the highest of the haircut percentages applicable to each of the equities which constitute the basket, or the weighted average percentage applicable to the basket as calculated in accordance with an approval granted under section 58(5)(h)(ii)
3.		ts in a unit trust or es in a mutual fund	

(fund) which is an

Section 35

92

Section 35

			91
Column 1		Column 2	Column 3
Item	Ι	Description	Haircut percentage
	fund or a exchange where the features of that—	ed jurisdiction specified traded fund,	
	desc	ofy the criptions in the Code for—	
	(i)	warrant funds	40%
	(ii)	futures and options funds	40%
	(iii)	hedge funds	40%
	(iv)	structured funds	40%
	(v)	funds that invest in financial derivative instruments	40%
	(vi)	money market and cash management funds	5%
	(vii)	index funds, but only if the fund tracks an equity index (being an	the highest of the haircut percentages applicable to each of the equities or

C	Column 1		Column 2	Column 3
I1	tem		Description	Haircut percentage
			index that is calculated by reference to a basket of equities) or a debt securities index (being an index that is calculated by reference to a basket of debt securities)	debt securities which constitute the basket, or the weighted average percentage applicable to the basket as calculated in accordance with an approval granted under section 58(5)(h)(ii)
		(b)	satisfy the descriptions in the Code on Real Estate Investment Trusts published by the Commission under section 399 of the Ordinance for a REIT	30%
		(c)	fall within more than one of the descriptions set out in paragraph (a) or (b)	the highest of the haircut percentages applicable to each of the descriptions
		(d)	do not fall within any of the descriptions set out in paragraph (a), (b) or (c)	20%

Table 8 **Haircut Percentages for Specified Investments**

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
Item	Description	Haircut percentage %
1.	Gold coin or gold bullion	10
2.	Interests in a collective investment scheme which—	10
	(a) falls within the meaning of paragraph (b) of the definition of collective investment scheme in section 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to the Ordinance; and	
	(b) is authorized by the Commission under section 104 of the Ordinance	
	Note-	
	Paragraph (a) refers to arrangements for the purchase of gold coins or gold bullion, as described in item 1 of the Schedule to the Securities and Futures (Collective Investment	

Section 36

Column 2

Column 3

94

Item

Column 1

Description

Haircut percentage %

Schemes) Notice (Cap. 571 sub.

leg. M).

3. A tradable commodity 40

Table 9

Haircut Percentages for Illiquid and Miscellaneous Investments

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3
Item	Description	Haircut percentage %
1.	Illiquid investments	100
2.	Miscellaneous investments	100".

36. Schedule 3 substituted

Schedule 3—

Repeal the Schedule

Substitute

"Schedule 3

[s. 2 & Sch. 2]

Section 36

Specified Exchanges

Part 1

ASX Limited

Australian Securities Exchange Limited

Board of Trade of the City of Chicago, Inc.

Borsa Italiana S.p.A.

Cboe Exchange, Inc.

Chicago Mercantile Exchange, Inc.

Commodity Exchange, Inc.

Deutsche Börse AG

Eurex Frankfurt AG

Eurex Zürich AG

Euronext Amsterdam N.V.

Euronext Brussels S.A./N.V.

Euronext Paris S.A.

Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited

ICE Futures Canada, Inc.

ICE Futures Europe

ICE Futures U.S., Inc.

Korea Exchange, Inc.

London Stock Exchange plc

Montréal Exchange Inc.

Nagoya Stock Exchange, Inc.

NASDAQ Copenhagen A/S

NASDAQ Helsinki Ltd

NASDAO PHLX LLC

NASDAQ Stockholm AB

New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc.

New York Stock Exchange LLC

NYSE American LLC

NYSE Arca, Inc.

NZX Limited

Osaka Dojima Commodity Exchange

Osaka Exchange, Inc.

Oslo Børs ASA

SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd.

Sociedad Rectora de la Bolsa de Valores de Madrid, S.A., Sociedad Unipersonal

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Société de la Bourse de Luxembourg S.A.

The London Metal Exchange Limited

The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC - NASDAQ Global Market

The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC - NASDAQ Global Select Market

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Tokyo Commodity Exchange, Inc.

Tokyo Financial Exchange Inc.

Tokyo Stock Exchange, Inc.

TSX Inc.

Wiener Börse AG

Part 2

B3 S.A. – Brasil, Bolsa, Balcão

BSE Limited

Bursa Malaysia Derivatives Berhad

Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad

China Financial Futures Exchange

Dalian Commodity Exchange

National Stock Exchange of India Limited

Shanghai Futures Exchange

Shanghai International Energy Exchange Co., LTD

Shanghai Stock Exchange

Shenzhen Stock Exchange

Singapore Exchange Derivatives Trading Limited

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation

Thailand Futures Exchange Public Company Limited

The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.

The Stock Exchange of Thailand

The Taiwan Futures Exchange Corporation

Zhengzhou Commodity Exchange".

37. "must" substituted for "shall"

The following provisions, English text—

- (a) Section 4;
- (b) Section 5;
- (c) Section 7;
- (d) Section 10;
- (e) Section 13;

- (f) Section 14(1) and (2);
- (g) Section 16(1)(b);
- (h) Section 17;
- (i) Section 24(1) and (2);
- (j) Section 25(1) and (2);
- (k) Section 26;
- (1) Section 27(1), (2), (3), (4), (6) and (7);
- (m) Section 32;
- (n) Section 33;
- (o) Section 34(1) and (2);
- (p) Section 36;
- (q) Section 38;
- (r) Section 39(1) and (2);
- (s) Section 41(1) and (2);
- (t) Section 42(1) and (2);
- (u) Section 44(1);
- (v) Section 45(1), (2), (3), (4) and (5);
- (w) Section 46(1), (2) and (3);
- (x) Section 48(1) and (2);
- (y) Section 49(1);
- (z) Section 50;
- (za) Section 54(1) and (2);
- (zb) Section 57—

Repeal

"shall" (wherever appearing)

Substitute

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018

Section 37 99

"must".

Ashley Alder Chief Executive Officer,

Securities and Futures Commission

12 October 2018

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018 Explanatory Note

Paragraph 1

Explanatory Note

The main object of these Rules is to amend the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (Cap. 571 sub. leg. N) (*principal Rules*) to clarify or expand certain requirements in the principal Rules relating to the manner in which a licensed corporation (*LC*), for the purposes of calculating its liquid capital and required liquid capital, is to account for its assets, liabilities and transactions.

100

- 2. Section 3 amends section 2 of the principal Rules to amend, repeal, substitute and add various definitions used in the principal Rules.
- 3. Section 4 adds new sections 2A, 2B, 2C, 2D, 2E, 2F and 2G to the principal Rules. New sections 2A, 2B, 2C, 2D, 2E and 2F respectively set out the meaning of gross foreign currency position, haircut amount, haircut percentage, listed, miscellaneous investment and structured note. New section 2G provides for the interpretation of references to "exchange" and "clearing house".
- 4. Section 5 amends section 3(1)(b) of the principal Rules to repeal the reference to the manner in which a LC is to account for structured bonds.
- 5. Sections 6, 10, 13, 20, 24, 27, 31 and 33 respectively amend sections 6, 12, 19, 31, 40, 51, 55 and 58 of the principal Rules to make consequential amendments to refer to unlisted options contracts.
- 6. Sections 7, 8 and 9 amend Division 2 of Part 4 of the principal Rules to amend various matters concerning the computation basis for a LC's liquid capital and required liquid capital—
 - (a) section 7 amends section 8 of the principal Rules to add requirements to account for illiquid and miscellaneous investments on a trade date basis;

- (b) section 8 substitutes section 9 of the principal Rules to expand the list of instruments or assets to which that section 9 applies and to clarify how references to "market value" in the principal Rules are to be construed; and
- (c) section 9 amends section 11 of the principal Rules to provide for the setting-off of certain amounts arising from cleared transactions in securities.
- 7. Sections 11 to 21 amend Division 3 of Part 4 of the principal Rules to amend various requirements relating to a LC's liquid assets—
 - (a) section 12 adds new section 18A to the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of assets in respect of which remittance or exchange controls apply, and section 11 makes consequential amendments to section 18 of the principal Rules so that it does not apply to such assets;
 - (b) section 14 amends section 20 of the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of certain money held by a LC for the purposes of settling purchases of, or subscriptions for, securities;
 - (c) section 15 amends section 21 of the principal Rules to clarify the treatment of certain amounts receivable from clients in respect of purchases of, or subscriptions for, securities which are not yet due for settlement;
 - (d) section 16 amends section 22(4)(c), and the definition of average monthly turnover in section 22(5), of the principal Rules to clarify that a period of listing relates to a particular exchange, and section 22(4)(d) of the principal Rules to update the names of certain indexes;
 - (e) section 17 amends section 23 of the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of certain amounts receivable which are not yet due for settlement or which arise from cleared transactions in securities;

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018 Explanatory Note Paragraph 8

102

- (f) section 18 amends section 28 of the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of certain amounts receivable by a LC from certain clearing houses arising from transactions cleared by the LC with the clearing houses;
- (g) section 19 substitutes section 29 of the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of certain amounts receivable by a LC from futures or options clearing house participants arising from transactions cleared by them for the LC, and section 30 of the principal Rules to clarify the treatment of certain amounts receivable by a LC from clients in respect of purchases of exchange-traded unlisted options contracts; and
- (h) section 21 amends section 35 of the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of certain underwriting fees receivable by a LC.
- 8. Sections 22 to 30 amend Division 4 of Part 4 of the principal Rules to amend various requirements relating to a LC's ranking liabilities—
 - (a) section 22 adds new section 36A to the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of certain controlled assets which a LC elects to include in its liquid assets under new section 18A(3) of the principal Rules;
 - (b) section 23 amends section 37 of the principal Rules to clarify the types of segregated accounts in which a LC may hold client money for the purposes of that section 37;
 - section 25 amends section 43 of the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of illiquid and miscellaneous investments;
 - (d) section 26 amends section 47 of the principal Rules to clarify the treatment of certain net underwriting commitments;

- (e) section 28 adds new section 51A to the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of certain foreign currency positions;
- (f) section 29 amends section 52 of the principal Rules to make consequential amendments to remove references to foreign currency positions (to be provided for in new section 51A of the principal Rules), and to provide for the inclusion in ranking liabilities of certain amounts as a consequence of a LC electing to include certain controlled assets in its liquid assets under new section 18A(3) of the principal Rules; and
- (g) section 30 amends section 53 of the principal Rules to provide for the treatment of certain liabilities arising from tenancy agreements in respect of premises used by a LC in carrying on a regulated activity.
- 9. Sections 32, 34 and 37 amend various sections of the principal Rules to make minor drafting amendments to the English text to substitute plain language expressions for the word "shall".
- 10. Section 33 amends section 58 of the principal Rules to empower the Securities and Futures Commission to—
 - (a) specify ratings issued by Fitch Ratings for the purposes of approving a credit rating agency under section 58(1)(b) of the principal Rules;
 - (b) approve the calculation of haircut percentages relating to certain baskets of securities on a weighted average basis under new section 58(5)(h) of the principal Rules; and
 - (c) approve the setting-off of certain amounts for the purposes of new section 11(7) of the principal Rules.
- 11. Section 35 amends Schedule 2 to the principal Rules to vary certain haircut percentages applicable in certain calculations under Part 4 of the principal Rules, and to make consequential amendments to

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018 Explanatory Note

Paragraph 12 104

align the Schedule with the definitions of *haircut amount* and *haircut percentage* in new sections 2B and 2C of the principal Rules (as added by section 4)—

- (a) section 35(2) substitutes Table 1 in the Schedule to set out haircut percentages for all listed shares, and to expand and restructure existing Tables 1, 2 and 3 in the Schedule for better presentation (section 35(3) repeals Tables 2 and 3), and substitutes Table 1A in the Schedule to set out haircut percentages for shares listed in Hong Kong for the purpose of calculating haircut amounts under section 22(1)(b)(i) of the principal Rules;
- (b) section 35(5) to (15) amends Table 4 in the Schedule to add ratings by Fitch Ratings; and
- (c) section 35(16)—
 - (i) substitutes Table 5 in the Schedule to add definitions used in the Table and to amend the headings of the columns in the Table;
 - (ii) substitutes Table 6 in the Schedule to add definitions used in the Table and to set out more particular haircut percentages for certain special debt securities:
 - (iii) substitutes Table 7 in the Schedule to set out more particular haircut percentages for funds;
 - (iv) substitutes Table 8 in the Schedule for better clarity and presentation; and
 - (v) adds Table 9 in the Schedule to provide haircut percentages for illiquid and miscellaneous investments.
- 12. Section 36 substitutes Schedule 3 to the principal Rules to expand the list of specified exchanges and to update the names of several

Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) (Amendment) Rules 2018
Explanatory Note
Paragraph 12

exchanges which are specified exchanges under the existing Schedule 3.

105